
MEETING OF HARLOW COUNCIL
7.30 pm on Tuesday, 18 December, 2018

In the Council Chamber, Civic Centre

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Declarations of Interest  

Councillors’ declarations of interest (if any) in relation to any items on the 
agenda.

3. Minutes  (Pages 4 - 11)

To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 1 November 2018.

4. Communications from the Chair  

5. Petitions from the Public  

6. Questions from the Public  

7. Questions from Councillors  

8. Motions from Councillors  

a) Libraries in Harlow  

Proposed by Councillor Shannon Jezzard (seconded by Councillor 
Mark Ingall):

“This Council is concerned by Essex County Council’s plans to 
close public libraries in Harlow. Libraries are vital to promoting 
literacy and fostering a love of reading amongst all people. They 
are used by pre-school children taking their first steps towards 
reading, those at the other end of the school journey and by young 
adults studying for their exams. Libraries also provide essential 
services for the least well off in society, providing computer access 
to people looking for jobs and accommodation, completing 
Universal Credit forms and for those filling out online school 
admission applications. This Council believes that library closures 
run counter to the County's health and wellbeing agenda and 
therefore requests that the Leader of the Council writes to the 
County Council urging it to keep all of Harlow’s libraries open.”

Public Document Pack



b) Maples Respite Care Home  

Proposed by Councillor Chris Vince (seconded by Councillor Jean 
Clark):

“This Council is dismayed by Essex County Council's plans to 
halve the number of beds in the Maples Respite care home in Little 
Parndon. Respite care is a vital resource for parents who have 
children with complex needs. Unlike alternatives, like child minding, 
centres like the Maples provide specialist support to children with a 
variety of needs and ensures they are provided with the stimulating 
environment that they need. This Council requests the Leader of 
the Council to write a letter to Essex County Council describing the 
benefits of this service and asking them to reconsider any 
proposed cuts.”

9. References from Cabinet and Committees  

a) Referral from Licensing Committee - Animal Welfare Licensing  
(Pages 12 - 25)

Licensing Committee recommended to Full Council that:

A The scheme of fees and charges with respect to The Animal 
Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) 
Regulations 2018 (attached as Appendix A to the report) be 
adopted, with the fees and charges to be reviewed annually 
thereafter as part of the Council’s annual fees and charges 
setting round.

B The arrangements for formal decision making (attached as 
Appendix B to the report) be approved.

C The procedure for appeal against a risk rating score of an 
operator (attached as Appendix C to the report) be approved.

b) Referral from Licensing Committee - Review of Gambling Act 
Licensing Policy  (Pages 26 - 67)

Licensing Committee recommended to Full Council that: 

A The replacement Gambling Act Licensing Policy (attached as 
Appendix A to the report) be approved.

c) Referral from Cabinet - Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
2018/19: Mid-Year Review  (Pages 68 - 77)
Cabinet recommended to Full Council that:

A The Mid-Year Review of the Treasury Management Strategy, 
attached as Appendix A to the report, be noted.



d) Referral from Cabinet - Local Council Tax Support Scheme 
Proposals 2019/20  (Pages 78 - 122)

Cabinet recommends to Full Council that:

A The that the current scheme remains unchanged for 2019/20 
and that the introduction of fixed period awards for Local 
Council Tax Support is not implemented at the current time and 
kept under review.

10. Reports from Officers  

a) Appointment of Monitoring Officer  (Pages 123 - 125)

b) Appointment to Committees, Sub-Committees and Panels of the 
Council and their Chair and Vice-Chair (to follow) 

c) Nomination for Appointment of Council Representatives on 
Outside Bodies  (Pages 126 - 127)

11. Minutes of Cabinet and Committee Meetings  

To note the following Cabinet and Committee minutes:

a) Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 20 November 2018 of Licensing 
Committee  (Pages 128 - 130)

b) Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 28 November 2018 of Audit and 
Standards Committee  (Pages 131 - 134)

c) Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 4 December 2018 of Scrutiny 
Committee  (Pages 135 - 138)

d) Minutes of meeting Thursday, 6 December 2018 of Cabinet 
(to follow) 

12. Matters of Urgent Business  



MINUTES OF THE COUNCIL
HELD ON

1 November 2018 7.30  - 8.40 pm

PRESENT

COUNCILLORS OFFICERS

Maggie Hulcoop (Chair)
Clive Souter (Vice-Chair)

David Carter
Simon Carter
Joel Charles
Nick Churchill
Jean Clark
Mike Danvers
Bob Davis
Michael Garnett
Tony Hall
Eugenie Harvey

Mark Ingall
Andrew Johnson
Eddie Johnson
Stefan Mullard
Danny Purton
Lanie Shears
John Strachan
Emma Toal
Phil Waite
Mark Wilkinson

Brian Keane, Managing 
Director
Colleen O'Boyle, Interim Head 
of Governance
Lisa Thornett, Corporate 
Governance Support Officer

41. MINUTES SILENCE 

A minute silence was observed for the tragedy in Pittsburgh and Leicester 
City.

42. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Tony Durcan, Tony 
Edwards, Michael Hardware, Shona Johnson, Sue Livings, Russell Perrin, 
Edna Stevens and Chris Vince.

43. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

None.

44. MINUTES 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 20 September 
2018 are agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

45. COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE CHAIR 

The Chair outlined various events she had attended and in particular drew 
attention to the visit from the High Sherriff of Essex, her Civic Service, and 
the celebration of the Royal Navy’s 60th anniversary and the opening of 
Newhall Primary school.

Public Document Pack

4

Agenda Item 3



The Chair also advised that on Friday 2 November 2018 at 2pm, there 
would be an opening of the ‘Fazackerley Hide’ at the Nature Reserve in 
memory of Darren Fazackerley, who passed away last year. All Councillors 
are welcome to attend.  

46. PETITIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 

None.

47. QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 

The question together with the answer is appended to the minutes. 

48. QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS 

None.

49. MOTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS

a) Adoption of the International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance 

Proposed by Councillor Lanie Shears (seconded by Councillor Andrew 
Johnson):

This Council deplores anti-Semitism in all its forms and therefore adopts the 
definition of anti-Semitism as set out by the International Holocaust 
Remembrance Alliance in full and without amendment; and in doing so 
pledges to combat this pernicious form of racism:

‘“Anti-Semitism is a certain perception of Jews, which may be expressed as 
hatred toward Jews. Rhetorical and physical manifestations of anti-Semitism 
are directed toward Jewish or non-Jewish individuals and/or their property, 
toward Jewish community institutions and religious facilities.”

To guide IHRA in its work, the following examples may serve as illustrations:
 
Manifestations might include the targeting of the state of Israel, conceived 
as a Jewish collectivity. However, criticism of Israel similar to that levelled 
against any other country cannot be regarded as anti-Semitic. Anti-Semitism 
frequently charges Jews with conspiring to harm humanity, and it is often 
used to blame Jews for “why things go wrong.” It is expressed in speech, 
writing, visual forms and action, and employs sinister stereotypes and 
negative character traits.
 
Contemporary examples of anti-Semitism in public life, the media, schools, 
the workplace, and in the religious sphere could, taking into account the 
overall context, include, but are not limited to:

5



 Calling for, aiding, or justifying the killing or harming of Jews in the 
name of a radical ideology or an extremist view of religion.

 Making mendacious, dehumanising, demonising, or stereotypical 
allegations about Jews as such or the power of Jews as collective — 
such as, especially but not exclusively, the myth about a world 
Jewish conspiracy or of Jews controlling the media, economy, 
government or other societal institutions.

 Accusing Jews as a people of being responsible for real or imagined 
wrongdoing committed by a single Jewish person or group, or even 
for acts committed by non-Jews.

 Denying the fact, scope, mechanisms (e.g. gas chambers) or 
intentionality of the genocide of the Jewish people at the hands of 
National Socialist Germany and its supporters and accomplices 
during World War II (the Holocaust).

 Accusing the Jews as a people, or Israel as a state, of inventing or 
exaggerating the Holocaust.

 Accusing Jewish citizens of being more loyal to Israel, or to the 
alleged priorities of Jews worldwide, than to the interests of their own 
nations.

 Denying the Jewish people their right to self-determination, e.g., by 
claiming that the existence of a State of Israel is a racist endeavour.

 Applying double standards by requiring of it a behaviour not expected 
or demanded of any other democratic nation.

 Using the symbols and images associated with classic antisemitism 
(e.g., claims of Jews killing Jesus or blood libel) to characterise Israel 
or Israelis.

 Drawing comparisons of contemporary Israeli policy to that of the 
Nazis.

 Holding Jews collectively responsible for actions of the state of Israel.

Anti-Semitic acts are criminal when they are so defined by law (for example, 
denial of the Holocaust or distribution of anti-Semitic materials in some 
countries).
 
Criminal acts are anti-Semitic when the targets of attacks, whether they are 
people or property – such as buildings, schools, places of worship and 
cemeteries – are selected because they are, or are perceived to be, Jewish 
or linked to Jews.
 

6



Anti-Semitic discrimination is the denial to Jews of opportunities or services 
available to others and is illegal in many countries.’

This Council requests Cabinet to set up a Panel comprising cross party 
Councillor membership and leading members of the Jewish community, 
together with equivalent representatives from other religious communities 
within Harlow to explore what measures can be taken to be build confidence 
in the Jewish and other religious communities. 

The motion was carried. 

b) Pensions for Women Born in the 1950's

Proposed by Councillor Lanie Shears (seconded by Councillor Mark Ingall):

This Council calls upon Esther McVey, Secretary of State for Work and 
Pensions and the Government to make fair transitional state pension 
arrangements for all women born on or after 6th April 1950, who have 
unfairly borne the burden of the increase to the State Pension Age with lack 
of appropriate notification.

Hundreds of thousands of women had significant pension changes imposed 
on them by the Pensions Acts of 1995 and 2011 with little or no personal 
notification of the changes. Some women had only two years notice of a six-
year increase to their state pension age. Many women born in the 1950s are 
living in hardship as a result.

This Council calls upon Esther McVey, Secretary of State for Work and 
Pensions and the Government to reconsider transitional arrangements for 
women born on or after 6 April 1950, so that a phased and fair 
implementation ensures that women do not live in hardship due to pension 
changes they were not told about until it was too late to make alternative 
arrangements.

A vote on the motion was recorded. The details of the recorded vote are 
below. 

The motion was carried. 

Pensions for women Born in the 1950's (Motion)
Councillor Maggie Hulcoop For
Councillor Clive Souter Abstain
Councillor David Carter Abstain
Councillor Simon Carter Abstain
Councillor Joel Charles Abstain
Councillor Nick Churchill Abstain
Councillor Jean Clark For
Councillor Mike Danvers For
Councillor Bob Davis For
Councillor Michael Garnett Abstain

7



Councillor Tony Hall Abstain
Councillor Eugenie Harvey For
Councillor Mark Ingall For
Councillor Andrew Johnson Abstain
Councillor Eddie Johnson Abstain
Councillor Stefan Mullard For
Councillor Danny Purton For
Councillor Lanie Shears For
Councillor John Strachan For
Councillor Emma Toal For
Councillor Phil Waite For
Councillor Mark Wilkinson For
Carried

c) Permitted Development

Proposed by Councillor Mark Ingall (seconded by Councillor John 
Strachan):

Changes to planning legislation in May 2013 has allowed the conversion of 
offices to residential accommodation through what is known as 'permitted 
development' and these conversions do not therefore require the permission 
of the local planning authority. 

In Harlow, this policy change has had unfortunate implications and 
disproportionate effects. Our town was deliberately planned to separate 
industrial and employment activity from residential areas. This was one way 
in which Gibberd sought to deliver quality homes and neighbourhoods to live 
in, with access to green space.

The consequences of this change have led to: 

 A large quantum of office to residential conversions in our town 
centre which has put significant additional pressure on the Police and 
other public services in Harlow.

 A loss of business accommodation in our employment areas meaning 
that we are unable to attract new office based businesses or cater for 
our own growing businesses that cannot be accommodated in the 
Science Park.

 The creation of a resident population, including families with children, 
who are living in industrial areas with poor access to education and 
health services, shops, utilities , public transport and decent 
amenities and safe play and green space that we expect in our 
residential neighbourhoods. We are also concerned about the risks 
posed to residents in these localities where there will be significantly 
higher heavy goods vehicle movements, congestion and poor air 
quality which may have health and safety impacts.

8



Such is the quantum of existing conversions (in excess of 1,000 housing 
units) that this Council believes that there should now be a moratorium on 
any further such developments in Harlow and will seek to achieve this 
through our dialogue with the Government. 

This Council will also pursue additional applications for Article 4 Directions 
which would mean any such proposed conversions would need to apply 
through the normal planning process and enable the local authority to 
exercise its powers in relation to location and quality of any conversions.

Councillor Simon Carter, seconded by Councillor Andrew Johnson, 
proposed the following amendment: 

At the end of the fifth paragraph delete the words, “will seek to achieve this 
through our dialogue with the Government.”

And substitute:

“Will work with Robert Halfon MP, to secure:

1. A block on any further conversions of offices located in employment 
areas;

2. Introduction of a mandatory protocol for the notification of individuals 
and families in need to the receiving authority(ies), along with the 
funds to provide that care;

3. To bring the existing conversions within the planning system to 
ensure they comply with local requirements;

4. Developments must be obliged to meet basic requirements to ensure 
that they are fit for inhabitance taking into account amenity areas for 
children, transport connections and close proximity to facilities.”

The amendment was debated and a vote was taken. The amendment was 
lost and the original motion continued to be the substantive motion. 

The motion was carried. 

50. REFERENCES FROM CABINET AND COMMITTEES 

None.

51. REPORTS FROM OFFICERS

a) Appointment of Member Champion

Proposed by Councillor Mark Ingall and seconded by Councillor Mark 
Wilkinson.

9



RESOLVED that Councillor Tony Durcan be appointed as the 
Member Champion for Mental Health. 

52. MINUTES OF CABINET AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the following meetings are noted. 

a) Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 11 September 2018 of Licensing 
Committee

b) Minutes of meeting Thursday, 13 September 2018 of Cabinet

c) Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 16 October 2018 of Scrutiny Committee

d) Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 17 October 2018 of Development 
Management Committee

e) Minutes of meeting Thursday, 18 October 2018 of Cabinet

53. MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

CHAIR OF THE COUNCIL

10



Agenda item 6 refers

1. Mr David Forman to Councillor Lanie Shears, Portfolio Holder for 
Governance, Equality and Diversity

Would you agree that a practical measure to build confidence in the Jewish 
community would be to allow the Holocaust Memorial Day 2019 event to be 
held in the Council Chamber and that all Harlow Councillors should 
endeavour to attend the event, especially as the latest Home Office Statistical 
Bulletin showed a 40 percent rise in religiously motivated hate crime in 
2017/18?

Response from Councillor Lanie Shears, Portfolio Holder for 
Governance, Equality and Diversity  

Yes, if that is what the Jewish Community would like to do.

COUNCIL – 1 NOVEMBER 2018
QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC

Minute Item 47

11



REPORT TO: 
 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 

DATE: 
 

20 NOVEMBER 2018  

TITLE: 
 

ANIMAL WELFARE LICENSING 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

MICHAEL PITT, ENVIRONMENT AND LICENSING 
MANAGER (01279) 446114 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER: 
 

CHRIS BENNETT, PRINCIPAL ENVIRONMENTAL 
HEALTH OFFICER (01279) 446113 

 
 
RECOMMENDED that the Licensing Committee recommends to Full Council that: 
 
A The scheme of fees and charges with respect to The Animal welfare (Licensing 

of Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018(attached as 
Appendix A to the report) be adopted, with the fees and charges to be reviewed 
annually thereafter as part of the Council’s annual fees and charges setting 
round. 

 
B The arrangements for formal decision making (attached as Appendix B to the 

report) be approved. 
 

C The procedure for appeal against a risk rating score of an operator (attached as 
Appendix C to the report) be approved. 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. The following report explains the forthcoming changes to animal welfare 

licensing in accordance with the Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving 
Animals) (England) Regulations 2018. 
 

2. In particular, Members are requested to consider and make recommendations to 
Council with respect to the following procedural matters: 
 

a) Fee setting; 
 

b) Scheme of delegation; and 
 

c) Risk rating appeals. 
 

3. The Council is currently the Licencing Authority for some animal licensing and is 
subject to separate legislation.  The types of Licence currently issued by the 
Council are: 
 

a) Animal boarding establishment licences – dogs and cats in purpose 
built kennels, catteries, home boarders, dog day care; 
 

12

Agenda Item 9a



b) Dog breeding establishment licences – premises used for or in 
connection with, the commercial breeding of dogs; 
 

c) Pet shop licences – any business which keeps animals with a view to 
selling them as pets; 
 

d) Riding establishment licences – premises which keep horses and 
ponies for hire for riding, or for riding tuition. Livery stables are 
excluded; 
 

e) Zoo licences – displaying wild animals to the public for at least 7 days a 
year, in any place that’s not a circus or pet shop; and 
 

f) Dangerous wild animal licences – any person keeping any dangerous 
wild animal. 

 
4. The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) 

Regulations 2018 introduces a single licensing system for the selling animals as 
pets; providing for or arranging for the provision of boarding for cats or dogs, 
hiring out horses, dog breeding; and the keeping or training animals for 
exhibition.  Zoo and Dangerous Wild Animal licences are not affected by the 
changes to Legislation and will continue to be covered by their own specific 
legislation.   

 
5. The fundamental aim of animal licensing is to maintain good standards of animal 

welfare. It is estimated that nationally animal welfare licensing comprises the 
fourth largest group of business licences issued by local authorities, after 
premises, taxi, and gambling licences.     

 
6. To illustrate the significance of animal welfare licensing within Harlow, to date in 

2018/19, the Council has issued 10 licences detailed as follows: 
 

a) Five animal boarding establishment licences; 
 

b) Zero dog breeding establishment licences; 
 

c) Five pet shop licences; and 
 

d) Zero Riding establishment licences. 
 

7. The current licensing system has developed on a piecemeal basis over many 
decades and given rise to a number of concerns summarised in the following 
paragraphs. 
 

8. The existing system was considered to be complex and burdensome for both 
councils and businesses. For example, the majority of animal welfare licences 
are arbitrarily required to be issued on a calendar basis, which means there is 
seasonal pressure applied to councils in administering and issuing the bulk of 
licences at the least productive time of the year. 
 

13



9. Businesses applying for animal welfare licences (excluding dog breeding 
establishment licences) partway through the year were disadvantaged by the 
length of the initial licence which would expire at the end of the calendar year. 
Additionally, businesses with multiple functions including dog breeding and 
animal boarding were required to hold more than one licence. 
 

10. There were also specific concerns about certain types of activity that have not 
previously been clearly within the scope of the law. As an example, with the 
increase in use of the internet, the online sale of pets has increased 
dramatically. As these types of business did not fall clearly within the definition of 
a pet shop, the current licensing system was not being consistently enforced for 
such businesses. There were also concerns around dog breeders who breed 
dogs in poor welfare conditions for profit and the interpretation of exemption 
afforded in current legislation. 
 

11. There have been significant differences in the interpretation of legislation 
between councils and the standards applied through conditions attached to a 
licence and the methodology of inspection. Some councils considered it 
appropriate to licence home boarding overnight but not during the day. Some 
councils adopted standard model conditions whilst others had locally agreed 
standards. 
 

12. Many businesses do invest in consistently achieving high welfare standards and 
are accredited through the UK Accreditation Service (UKAS). There was no 
concept of earned recognition within previous licensing regimes. It was argued 
that the regimes lacked any incentive to attain higher animal welfare standards. 
 

13. These differences in interpretation lead to an inconsistent approach which could 
be confusing to local authorities, business, and the wider public alike and could 
lead to concerns about inconsistent animal welfare standards. 
 

14. The Government, in response to these issues, undertook a review of animal 
welfare licensing in England, which resulted in The Animal Welfare (Licensing of 
Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018, which bring about 
significant change. 

 
 

ISSUES/PROPOSALS 
 
15. These Regulations define the activities that will require a licence as follows: 

 
a) Selling animals as pets (or with a view to their being later resold as 

pets) in the course of a business including keeping animals in the 
course of a business with a view to their being sold or resold. 
 

b) Providing or arranging for the provision of accommodation for other 
people’s cats or dogs in the course of a business on any premises 
where the provision of that accommodation is a purpose of the 
business. 
 

14



c) Hiring out horses in the course of a business for either riding, 
instruction in riding, or both. 
 

d) Breeding three or more litters of puppies in any 12 month period: or 
breeding dogs and advertising a business of selling dogs. 
 

e) Keeping or training animals for exhibition in the course of a business for 
educational or entertainment purposes, either to any audience 
attending in person, or by the recording of visual images of them by any 
form of technology, or both.   

 
16. The County Council trading standards had previously been responsible for the 

registration of performing animals. The Council will now undertake the function 
of licensing for the keeping or training of animals for exhibition. The County 
Council and district councils are working together to ensure a smooth transition 
with respect to this activity. There are six premises in Harlow that were 
registered by the Essex Trading Standards team. 

 
17. The key changes introduced will require that all businesses undertaking the 

activities set out in paragraph 15 above meet the same up to date, minimum 
welfare standards. Businesses will have to be licensed by the relevant council 
and will have to meet these minimum standards to hold and retain a licence.   

 
18. Procedural guidance has been issued by the Department of the Environment 

Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA). The Guidance is also recommended as being 
helpful to existing and prospective licence holders. 

 
19. Earned recognition will now be incorporated into the licensing system and the 

Council will be able to issue a licence of between one to three years’ duration, 
with longer licences being awarded to higher-performing lower-risk businesses.  
Risk rating is discussed in further detail in paragraph 23 below. Businesses that 
apply will have less of a regulatory burden including reduced fees associated 
with applying for a licence. This change is expected to incentivise businesses to 
perform at a higher level which in turn should drive up animal welfare standards. 

 
20. The Council will now be in a position to issue a licence at any point in the year 

which will help spread out the workload. 
 

21. Any licences issued under the existing licensing regimes will continue to be in 
force for the duration of the terms of the licence under the relevant Act. 
 

22. Any registration of a person under the Performing Animals (Regulation) Act 1925 
will continue to be in force for six months from 1 October 2018.   

 
Risk Rating 
 
23. The concept of risk assessment is applied to the issue of an animal welfare 

licence for the first time. With the exception of ‘keeping or training animals for 
exhibition’ the Council must undertake a risk assessment which will then be 
used to determine the length of licence issued, between one and three years, 

15



and the star rating to award, from 1 - 5 stars. 1 and 2 star licence holders will 
require an annual licence.  3 and 4 star licence holders will be given two year 
licence and 5 star licence holders will be able to have a three year licence. 
 

24. Businesses will be rated following an inspection that takes place prior to grant or 
renewal of the licence or a requested re-inspection. Businesses may also be 
rated following an unannounced or additional inspection. 
 

25. The risk rating will be derived in accordance with the risk scoring model as 
provided in the procedural guidance notes for councils issued under the 
Regulations. 
 

26. In the case where a business is assessed for multiple activities, the risk rating 
will be based on the entire operation and not by each individual activity.  The 
overall risk rating will reflect the lowest standard achieved from all the activities 
assessed. 
 

27. Businesses will be advised in writing of the rating given, the reasons for the 
rating, and the measures the business can take to achieve a higher standard or 
a list of the standards the business is not achieving.   
 

28. The business will also receive a copy of the risk management table showing the 
scores under each point. In the event that a business disagrees with the risk 
rating awarded, they may appeal to the Council, and details of the appeals 
process including the deadline for submission of an appeal will be provided.  
Copies of licences, which will show the risk rating of the business, must be 
displayed to the public as a licensing requirement. The procedural guidance 
issued by DEFRA encourages the Council to publish a business’ risk rating on 
the Council’s website. 

 
Appeal Against a Risk Rating Score 
 
29. The procedure for dealing with an appeal is set out in Appendix C to the report 

and recognises the principle that a business has the right to question a star 
rating awarded to a business following an inspection, whatever that inspection 
may be. 
 

30. The system is designed to be fair, open, and transparent and reflects the 
principles of the Regulators Code in accordance with Section 23 of the 
Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006. 
 

31. The process is relevant where a business wishes to dispute the star rating 
awarded as not reflecting the animal welfare standards and risk level of their 
business at the time of inspection. 

 
Scheme of Fees and Charges 
 
32. The setting of fees and charges is a Full Council function. However, the 

Licensing Committee may reasonably make recommendations to advise the 
Council on a licensing issue. 

16



33. Regulation 13 of the Welfare Regulations provides for the Council to charge 
such  fees as it considers necessary for: 
 

a) The consideration of an application for the grant, renewal, or variation 
of a licence including any inspection relating to that consideration. 
 

b) The reasonable anticipated costs of consideration of a licence holder’s 
compliance. 
 

c) The reasonable anticipated costs of enforcement in relation to any 
licensable activity of an unlicensed operator. 
 

d) The reasonable anticipated costs of providing information to the 
Secretary of State through the DEFRA on an annual basis. 

 
34. Any fees charged must not exceed the reasonable costs of that consideration 

and related inspection. 
 

35. When setting fees, the Council must have regard to the EU Services Directive, 
incorporated into UK law as the Provision of Services Regulations 2009. 
 

36. The proposed scheme also has regard to a number of sources of guidance, 
including: 
 

a) “Open for business:  Local Government Association (LGA) guidance on 
locally set licence fees”, which sets out the steps to be taken to set fair 
and reasonable fees.   
 

b) Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) 
Guidance for Business on the Provision of Services Regulations. 
 

c) The Regulators Code applicable to all regulatory functions, which 
applies when setting fees and refers to “reasonable anticipated costs”. 
 

d) ‘Procedural guidance notes for local authorities’ DEFRA guidance to 
the Welfare Regulations which includes guidance on fees setting.  
 

37. Appendix A sets out the proposed fee schedule to be adopted. Licences will be 
issued for a period of one, two, or three years. It is intended to link the cost of 
licensing to a Licence holder’s star rating.  The 1 to 2 star licence holders will be 
paying more for licensing.  3 and 4 star licence holders paying the same amount 
as they would have paid under the old licensing scheme, and 5 star licence 
holders achieving the highest animal welfare standards paying less.   
 

38. The fees will be split into two distinct parts: 
 

a) Application fee; and 
 

b) Grant fee. 
 

17



39. The application and grant fee will be charged at the point an application is made 
and reflects all the costs of processing. The application fee includes the cost of 
administration, inspection, and determination. 
 

40. The grant fee reflects the costs of managing compliance with a licence, the 
general enforcement costs of pursuing unlicensed activity during the term of the 
licence and submission of annual returns to the Secretary of State. The grant fee 
will be refunded in full if a licence is not issued. 
 

41. Applications with respect to dog breeding and riding schools require the Council 
to appoint a suitable veterinarian to assist with the determination. The costs of 
inspection will payable by the applicant before a licence can be issued. 
 

42. The cost of varying a licence or re-evaluating a business’s star rating with 
respect to a licence or transfer of a licence are set out within the proposed fee 
schedule. The cost reflects the additional work required to make a change to an 
issued licence. 

 
Scheme of Delegation 
 
43. To enable the Council to undertake technical and administrative functions under 

the licensing regime within the necessary timescales, the delegation of functions 
as set out in Appendix B is proposed. 
 

44. To fulfil some of the functions under the licensing regime, the Council is required 
to appoint Inspectors who are appropriately qualified to undertake the relevant 
tasks. The appointment of Inspectors under The Animal Welfare (Licensing of 
Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018 is a matter to be 
delegated to the Head of Service. 

 
45. It is proposed that the following functions be delegated to the Environment and 

Licensing Manager, or the Environmental Health Manager in their absence: 
 

a) The grant or renewal of a licence to carry on a licensable; 
 

b) The transfer of a licence in the event of the death of a licence holder; 
 

c) The power of the suspension, variation or revocation of a licence; and 
 

d) To receive and consider representations against the suspension, 
variation or revocation of a licence; 
 

46. It is proposed that the service of notices is delegated to appropriately qualified 
Environmental Health Officers. 
 

47. The Head of Service will make the necessary arrangements for Officers of the 
Licensing Team to be duly authorised. Heads of Service have authority to 
delegate functions allocated to them under the Constitution where they consider 
it appropriate. 

 

18



IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (Includes Sustainability) 
As contained in the report. 
Author: Michael Pitt, Environment and Licensing Manager on behalf of Graeme 
Bloomer, Head of Place 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
Subject to the approval of the recommendations and the adoption of the proposed 
scheme and fees and charges by Full Council, the income generated will be 
considered as part of the normal annual budget setting process. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance 
 
Housing 
None specific. 
Author: Mike Fulcher, Senior Housing Manager on behalf of Andrew Murray, 
Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
Robust policy and procedures with regard to animal welfare licencing helps ensure 
that good standards of animal welfare are maintained. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (Includes HR) 
None specific. 
Author: Colleen O’Boyle, Interim Head of Governance 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Scheme of Fees and Charges 
Appendix B – Formal Decision Making Scheme for Animal Welfare Licensing 
Appendix C – Procedure for Appeal Against a Risk Rating Score 
 
Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
BEIS – Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 
DEFRA – Department of the Environment Food and Rural Affairs 
LGA – Local Government Association 
UKAS – UK Accreditation Service 
 

 

19



Appendix A 

Scheme of fees and charges with respect to The Animal welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) 

Regulations 2018  

Licence Activity Application Fee 
(new or renewal) 

Grant Fee 
(new or renewal) 

Additional costs to 
applicant 

Total Fee 

Animal Boarding to 
include: 

- home boarding 
- day care 
- catteries  
- kennels 

1 to 6 boarded animals £126 
 
 

£73 N/A £199 

7 and over boarded animals £176 £98 N/A £274 

Dog breeding 1 to 6 bitches 
 
 

£126 £73 Vets fees for 
inspection on 
application 

£199 (plus vets 
fees) 

7 or more bitches 
 
 

£176 £98 Vets fees for 
inspection on 
application  

£274 (plus vets 
fees) 

Selling animals as pets £176 £98 N/A £274 

Hiring out horses £176 £98 Vets fees for 
inspection on 
application and 
throughout licence 
period 

£274 (plus vets 
fees) 

Keeping animals for exhibition £126 £98 N/A £224 

Dangerous wild animal N/A N/A Vets fees £154 (plus vets 
fees) 

Zoo licensing N/A N/A Vets fees £635 (plus vets 
fees) 

Combination of activities Equal to highest 
application fee plus 50% 
of each additional 
application fee 

Equal to highest 
grant fee 

Vets fees where 
required (as above) 

Equal to total of 
all application 
fees plus the 
grant fee 

Variation to licence / re-evaluation of risk rating score; £85 N/A £100 for inspection  £185 

20



- animal boarding 
- selling animals as pets 
- keeping animals for exhibition 

Variation of licence / re-evaluation of rating score; 
- dog breeding 
- hiring out horses 

£85 N/A £100 for inspection 
plus any vets fees 

£185 (plus vets 
fees) 

Appeal of a risk rating score (all licences) £125 for inspection N/A Inspection fee 
refunded if appeal 
upheld 

£125 

Variations to reduce the licensable activities or numbers of animals £85 N/A N/A £85 

Transfer of licence £85 N/A N/A £85 

 

21



Appendix B 

Formal Decision Making Scheme for Animal Welfare Licensing  
 

 

Matter to be  
dealt with 

Council Licensing 
Committee 

Officers 

Setting of fees and 
charges 

In all cases   

Adoption of policy  In all cases  

Grant or renewal of a 
licence to carry on a 
licensable activity  

  Environment & 
Licensing Manager 
or 
Environmental 
Health Manager 

Transfer of a Licence 
in the event of the 
death of a licence 
holder 

  Environment & 
Licensing Manager 
or 
Environmental 
Health Manager 

Suspension, variation 
or revocation of a 
licence 

  Environment & 
Licensing Manager 
or 
Environmental 
Health Manager 

Receipt of 
representations 
against the 
suspension, variation 
or revocation of a 
licence 

  Environment & 
Licensing Manager 
or 
Environmental 
Health Manager 

Service of a Notice 
 

  Duly authorised 
Environmental 
Health Officers 

Appointment of 
suitably qualified 
inspectors 

  Head of Service 

Appeal of a risk rating 
score  

  Environment & 
Licensing Manager 
or 
Environmental 
Health Manager 

22



Appendix C 

Procedure for appeal against a risk rating score 
 

 The process is relevant where a business wishes to dispute the star rating 
awarded as not reflecting the animal welfare standards and risk level of their 
business at the time of inspection. 
 

 This process will not be relevant in the case where a business has made 
improvements following a risk rating awarded at an inspection.  In this case 
the business should request a re-inspection.  (See re-inspection section 
below) 
 

 Before submission of an appeal, businesses will be encouraged to discuss 
their intention to make an appeal with the inspecting Officer before a formal 
written appeal submission is made.  The Inspecting Officer will explain how 
the rating was awarded which may help resolve the need for a formal appeal. 
 

 In the event a business is still not satisfied with the risk rating score following 
an informal discussion with the Inspecting Officer the business can submit a 
formal appeal in writing to the authority. 
 

 Appeals will not be accepted after 21 days (including weekends and bank 
holidays) from the date the licence is issued.  In this case businesses should 
be mindful to submit an appeal at the earliest possible opportunity with a view 
that should informal discussions with the inspecting Officer be productive, the 
appeal can be withdrawn.  
 

 An appeal will be determined by the Environment and Licensing Manger or 
the Environmental Health Manager.  The Inspecting Officer involved in the 
production of the rating, or in the inspection on which the rating is based will 
not be involved in the determination of the appeal. 
 

 The Council will consider an appeal within 21 days (including weekends and 
bank holidays) on the receipt and provide a response to the business in 
writing within that time. 
 

 The appeal assessment will be based on the paperwork completed by the 
Inspecting Officer (inspected to include the relevant activity specific inspection 
proforma and risk rating) any premises history including compliance history, 
any documentation that supports the business and other useful material.  A 
further visit to the business may be required but will not be a requirement of 
the process.   
 

 There is no cost of submitting an appeal.  In the case where the appeal is 
upheld and the original rating remains the same or lowered, should the need 
for an inspection be required, the cost of that inspection will be borne by the 
applicant.  
 

 In the event that a business disagrees with the outcome of an appeal, there is 
a further right of challenge by means of a judicial review.  In the event that a 

23



business feels that the service provided by the Council has not been delivered 
properly, a complaint can be made in the first instance through the Councils 
complaint procedure and finally through the Local Government and Social 
Care Ombudsman.  The Council’s complaints procedure should not be used 
as another means of disputing a rating unless there is a clear link between the 
rating issued and a failure of the Council decision making when setting the 
rating.   

 
Re-evaluation of rating 
 

 Businesses will be able to request a re inspection for the purposes of re-
evaluating an issued star rating.  A request can be made using the dedicated 
Animal Welfare Rating Scheme: Request for a re-inspection visit form. 
 

 The business, should outline the case for re-inspection and should indicate 
the actions that have been taken by the business to improve the level of 
compliance or welfare since the inspection.  If appropriate supporting 
evidence can be provided, however the case should relate to the actions the 
Council advises the business should be made in order to receive a higher 
rating.  
 

 A re-inspection can be refused in the event the Council feels the request 
made has not been substantiated or there is insufficient evidence.  In this 
case the Council will explain the reasons for a refusal and will reiterate the 
steps the business needs to take before a re-inspection will take place.  In the 
event the business is not satisfied with this approach a complaint can be 
made via the Council’s complaint procedure. 
 

 The Council will never issue a new rating based solely on documentary 
evidence.  A re-inspection visit will always be made.  
 

 The Council will make a judgement as to whether a re-inspection visit will be 
announced or unannounced.  It will be usual practice to undertake an 
announced visit unless the purpose of a re-inspection is to ensure that 
standards which are not procedural are being maintained. 
 

 A re-inspection visit will not just focus on the grounds for the requested re-
inspection and will always include an assessment of the ongoing standards 
seen at the time.    
 

 A request for re-inspection will apply in the case where a business has been 
awarded a rating between 1-4 stars, where the rating has been accepted, and 
where the business has made the necessary improvements to address non-
compliance raised at the previous inspection.   
 

 A cost for a re-inspection will be required and paid by the applicant. 
 

 It must be noted that a re-inspection could lead to a lower rating. 
 

24



 A re-inspection request visit will be made within 3 months of receipt of a 
request.  Where this does not occur, the business holder has the right to 
make a complaint in accordance with the Council’s complaint procedure.   
 

 A business is not limited to the number of re-inspection visits it can request, 
however a re-inspection fee will apply in each case.   

 

25



REPORT TO: 
 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 

DATE: 
 

20 NOVEMBER 2018  

TITLE: 
 

REVIEW OF GAMBLING ACT LICENSING POLICY 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

MICHAEL PITT, ENVIRONMENT AND LICENSING 
MANAGER (01279) 446114 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER:  
 

DAVID TAYLOR, PRINCIPAL ENVIRONMENTAL 
HEALTH OFFICER – LICENSING (01279) 446148 

 
 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A The Licensing Committee recommends to Full Council that the proposed 

replacement Gambling Act Licensing Policy (attached as Appendix A to the 
report) be approved. 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. The Council the local ‘Licensing Authority’ for the purposes of the Gambling Act 

2005 (the Act). The Council must publish a Statement of Gambling Act Policy 
and review it at least every three years. The Council’s current policy was 
published on 22 February 2016 and is due to be reviewed and republished 
before 31 January 2019. 

 
2. The Gambling Commission under section 25 of the Act provides guidance to 

Licensing Authorities on how they should discharge their functions and duties.  
The current fifth edition of the Commission’s guidance was issued in September 
2015 with further updates added in September 2016. The proposed replacement 
Gambling Act Licensing Policy attached as Appendix A reflects that guidance. 

 
3. Council undertook a public consultation on the proposed replacement Gambling 

Act Licensing Policy which ended on 30 October 2018.  No representations were 
received.    

 
 

ISSUES/PROPOSALS 
 
4. The revised policy provides guidance for operators when undertaking local risk 

assessments. 
 

5. The Licensing Committee recommend to Full Council adoption of the proposed 
replacement Gambling Act Licensing Policy attached at Appendix A to come into 
effect from 31 January 2019. 

 
 

 

26

Agenda Item 9b



IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (Includes Sustainability) 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Michael Pitt, Environment and Licensing Manager on behalf of Graeme 
Bloomer, Head of Place 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
None specific. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance 
 
Housing 
None specific. 
Author: Mike Fulcher, Senior Housing Manager on behalf of Andrew Murray, 
Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
None specific. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (Includes HR) 
The Council is under a duty to review its Gambling Act Policy every three years and 
to consult on any changes.  The Council has fulfilled its requirement to consult and 
received no responses, the draft Gambling Act Policy has been updated to reflect 
changes required. 
Author: Amanda Julian, Legal Services Manager on behalf of Colleen O’Boyle, 
Interim Head of Governance 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Draft Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022 
 
Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
The Act – The Gambling Act 2005 
 

 

27



 1 

Appendix A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

GAMBLING LICENSING 

POLICY STATEMENT 

2019-2022 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Gambling Policy Document – Adopted to be inserted in the final document 

 

28



 2 

Version History 
 

Version No: Period to which policy applies: Review date: 

1 2007-10   

2 2010- 2013   

3 2013-16   

4 2016-19   

5  2019-22   2021  

 

  

29



 3 

 HARLOW DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 GAMBLING LICENSING POLICY STATEMENT

 

 
Section   Contents     Page No 
 
PART A 
 
1.0 Introduction 4 
2.0 The Licensing Objectives 4 
3.0 Description of the District and Contact Details 4 
4.0 Responsibilities under the Act 4 
5.0 Statement of Licensing Policy 5 
6.0 Consultation 5 
7.0 Approval of Policy 6 
8.0 Declaration 6 
9.0 Responsible Authorities 6 
10.0 Interested Parties 6 
11.0 Exchange of Information 7 
12.0 Public Register 8 
13.0 Compliance and Enforcement 8 
 
PART B - PREMISES LICENCES 
 
14.0 General Principles 10 
15.0 Provisional Statements 16 
16.0 Reviews 16 
17.0 Adult Gaming Centres 16 
18.0 (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres 16 
19.0 Casinos 17 
20.0 Bingo Premises 17 
21.0 Betting Premises 17 
22.0 Tracks 18 
23.0 Travelling Fairs 18 
 
PART C - PERMITS/TEMPORARY OR OCCASIONAL USE NOTICES/REGISTRATIONS 
 
24.0 General 19 
25.0 Unlicensed Family Entertainment  19 
 Centre Gaming Permits  
26.0 (Alcohol)Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits 19 
27.0 Prize Gaming Permits 20 
28.0 Club Gaming and Club Machine Permits 20 
29.0 Temporary Use Notices 22 
30.0 Occasional Use Notices 22 
31.0 Small Society Lotteries 22 
 
ANNEXES 
              Contents Page No 
 
 Annex 'A' - List of Consultees 24  
 Annex 'B'  - List of Responsible Authorities 26  
 Annex 'C' - Definitions 28   

Annex ‘D’ - Map of the Area 35 
Annex ‘E’ – Local Area Risk Assessment template 36 
Annex ‘F’ – Fees 40 

   

  

30



 4 

 

PART A 
 

 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION  
 
1.1 This Statement of Licensing Policy sets out the principles by which Harlow Council, as the 

Licensing Authority under the Gambling Act 2005 (referred to in this document as ‘the Act’), 
intends to apply in discharging its functions to license premises for gambling under the Act 
as well as:- 
 
 designating the body responsible for advising the Authority on the protection of 

children from harm 
 determining whether or not a person is an “Interested Party” 
 exchanging information with the Gambling Commission and others and 
 inspection of premises and institution of court proceedings for offences committed 

under the Act. 
 

2.0 THE LICENSING OBJECTIVES 
 
2.1 In exercising most of its functions under the Act, Licensing Authorities must have regard to 

the Licensing Objectives as set out in Section 1 of the Act.  The Licensing Objectives are:- 
 

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with 
crime or disorder or being used to support crime 

 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way and 

 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling. 

 
3.0 DESCRIPTION OF THE DISTRICT 
 
3.1 The County of Essex comprises 12 District and 2 Unitary Authorities.  Harlow District 

Council is one of the 12 district authorities.  Harlow is located on the south-western 
boundary of Essex bordering East Hertfordshire and Epping Forest Councils.  Harlow is 
strategically located in the London-Cambridge corridor and is served by London Liverpool 
Street station to Cambridge railway line and has nearby connections to the M11, M25 and 
A10.    A map of the area is attached to this Policy document at Annex ‘D’  

 
3.2 Harlow Council’s functions are administered by the Licensing Team, part of Place Services 

located at the Civic Centre, 3rd Floor, The Water Gardens, Harlow, Essex. CM20 1WG.  
The Licensing Team may be contacted on 01279 446005, via www.harlow.gov.uk or by 
email licensing@harlow.gov.uk  

 
4.0 RESPONSIBILITIES UNDER THE ACT 
 
4.1 The Act introduced a licensing regime for gambling, to be conducted by the Gambling 

Commission and by Licensing Authorities, depending on the matter to be licensed. 
 
4.2 Harlow Council is the Licensing Authority for the area shown on the attached map, whose 

responsibilities must be discharged by the Licensing Committee created under Section 6 of 
the Licensing Act 2003.   

 
4.3 The Gambling Commission is responsible for issuing Operating and Personal Licences to 

persons and organisations who:- 
 

 operate a casino 
 provide facilities for playing bingo or for pool betting 

31

http://www.harlow.gov.uk/
mailto:licensing@harlow.gov.uk


 5 

 provide betting or act as intermediaries for betting. 
 make gaming machines available for use in Adult Gaming Centres and Family 

Entertainment Centres 
 manufacture, supply, install, adapt, maintain or repair gaming machines 
 manufacture, supply, install or adapt gambling machine software, or 
 promote a lottery 

 
4.4  The Licensing Authority is responsible for licensing premises in which gambling takes 

place.  All types of gambling are included, other than spread betting and the National 
Lottery.  It is also responsible for issuing permits for premises with gaming machines and 
for receiving notices from operators wishing to use unlicensed premises for gambling on a 
temporary basis.  The Licensing Authority has additional responsibility for the registration of 

certain types of exempt Small Society Lotteries. The Council is mindful of its 
responsibilities under the act including the need to ensure that children and 
vulnerable people are protected from harm, and so all licence applications are 
scrupulously and robustly considered against the appropriate criteria. 

 
4.5 The Licensing Authority cannot become involved in the moral issues of gambling and must 

aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it :-  
 

a) in accordance with any relevant Code of Practice under Section 24 of the Act; 
b) in accordance with any relevant Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission under 

Section 25; 
c) reasonably consistent with the Licensing Objectives (Subject to paragraphs a) and b)) 

and 
d) in accordance with the Licensing Authority’s Statement of Licensing Policy (subject to 

paragraphs a) and c)). 
 

Before the Licensing Authority can determine an application for a Premises Licence, an 
Operating and Personal Licence, or both, must have been obtained by the applicant from 
the Gambling Commission. 
 

5.0 STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 
 
5.1 The Licensing Authority is required by the Act to publish a Statement of Licensing Policy 

which contains the principles it proposes to apply when exercising its functions under the 
Act. 

 
5.2 This Policy must be reviewed and published every three years.  The Policy must also be 

reviewed from 'time to time' and any proposed amendments and/or additions must be 
subject to fresh consultation.  The ‘new’ Policy must then be published. 

 
5.3. This Policy takes effect on 6th March 2019, and replaces the policy previously in force. 
 
 
6.0 CONSULTATION 
 
6.1 In producing this Policy, the Licensing Authority consulted widely before finalising and 

publishing it.  In addition to the statutory consultees (listed below), the Council chose to 
consult with additional local groups and individuals.  A full list of all groups and persons 
consulted is provided at Annex ‘A’.   

 
6.2 The Act requires that the following parties be consulted by the Licensing Authority:- 
  

 Responsible authorities 
 

6.3 Other proposed consultees include: 
 Local interested persons, community groups, local and regional organisations, 

groups and persons representing children, legal advice services, religious 

32



 6 

institutions, mental health centres and practitioners, gambling charities and other 
local and regional groups  

  One or more persons who appear to the Authority to represent the interests of 
persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the Authority’s functions 
under the Act  

 One or more persons who appear to the Authority to represent the interests of 
persons carrying on gambling businesses in the Authority’s area. 

 
6.4 Consultation took place between (to be inserted in final documents) 
 
7.0 APPROVAL OF POLICY  
 
7.1 This Policy was approved at a meeting of the full Council on (to be inserted in the final 

document) and was published via its website on (to be inserted in the final document)  
Copies are available on request.   

 
7.2 It should be noted that this Policy does not override the right of any person to make an 

application, to make representations about an application, or to apply for a review of a 
licence, as each case will be considered on its own merit and according to the requirements 
of the Act. 

 
8.0 DECLARATION 
 
8.1 The Licensing Authority declares that it has had regard to the Licensing Objectives, formal 

Guidance issued to Licensing Authorities and any responses from those consulted during 
the consultation process, and will adopt the Principles of Better Regulation. 

 
8.2 The Council recognises its responsibilities under equality legislation and will monitor the 

impact of these statutory duties through its various Equality Policies. 
 
9.0 RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITIES 
 
9.1 A full list of the Responsible Authorities designated under the Act and their contact details 

are given in Annex ‘B’.  It should be noted that under the Act, the Licensing Authority itself 
is designated as a Responsible Authority.  
 

9.2 The Licensing Authority is required to designate, in writing, a body that is competent to 
advise it about the protection of children from harm.  In making this designation the 
following principles have been applied:- 
 the competency of the body to advise the Licensing Authority 
 the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of the 

Licensing Authority’s area and 
 the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons rather 

than any particular interest group etc. 
 
9.3 In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Local Authorities, the 

Licensing Authority designates Essex Safeguarding Children Service as the competent 
authority to advise on the protection of children. 

 
10.0 INTERESTED PARTIES 
 
10.1 Interested Parties can make representations about licensing applications or apply for a 

review of an existing licence.  An Interested Party is defined in the Act as follows: 
 
'… a person is an interested party in relation to a premises licence or in relation to an 
application for or in respect of a premises if, in the opinion of the Licensing Authority which 
issues the licence or to which the application is made, the person; 
 

33



 7 

a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the 
authorised activities  

b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, or 
c) represents persons who satisfy paragraphs (a) or (b). 

  
10.2 Interested parties can be people who are democratically elected such as councillors and 

Members of Parliament.  Where appropriate this will include county, parish and town 
councillors.   
 
Interested parties can also be trade associations, trade unions, residents’ associations and 
tenants’ associations. Providing that these people represent those living or having business 
interests in the area which might be affected, no specific evidence of authorisation is 
required. 
 
Otherwise, the licensing authority will generally require a third party to produce some form 
of authorisation to speak on behalf of an interested party. 

 
10.3 Whether a person is an interested party will be determined on a case by case basis. The 

types of organisations which may be considered to have business interests will be given a 
wide interpretation. 

 
10.4 In determining if a person lives or has business interests sufficiently close to the premises 

that they are likely to be affected by the authorised activities, the Licensing Authority will 
consider the following factors:- 
 
 The size of the premises 
 The nature of the premises 
 The distance of the premises from the location of the person making the 

representation 
 The potential impact of the premises (e.g. number of customers, routes likely to be 

taken by those visiting the establishment) 
 The circumstances of the complaint.  This does not mean the personal 

characteristics of the complainant but the interest of the complainant, which may be 
relevant to the distance from the premises 

 The catchment area of the premises (i.e. how far people travel to visit) and 
 Whether the person making the representation has business interests in that 

catchment area that might be affected. 
 
10.5 The Licensing Authority will decide if a representation made in respect of an application is 

valid based on the following factors:  

 It is not frivolous or vexatious 

 It raises issues that relate to Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 

 It raises issues that relate to this policy 

 It relates to the Licensing Objectives 
 

11.0 EXCHANGE OF INFORMATION  
 
11.1 In its exchange of information with parties listed in Schedule 6 of the Act, the Licensing 

Authority will have regard to:- 
 

 the provisions of the Act, which include the provision that the Data Protection Act 
2018 will not be contravened 

 the Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 
 relevant Legislation and Regulations 

 
11.2 In accordance with Section 350 of the Gambling Act 2005, the Licensing Authority may 

exchange information with the following statutory bodies or individuals: 
 

 A constable or police force 
 An enforcement officer 

34



 8 

 A licensing authority 
 Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs 
 The Gambling Appeal Tribunal 
 The Secretary of State 
 Scottish Ministers 
 Any other person or body designated by the Secretary of State in accordance with 

the Act. 
 
11.3 The Licensing Authority may also exchange information provided by applicants with 

law enforcement agencies for purposes connected with the prevention and 
detection of crime, but we will only share any personal details for this purpose when 
required to do so by law. 

 
12.0 PUBLIC REGISTER 
 
12.1  The Licensing Authority is required to keep a public register and share information in it with 

the Gambling Commission and others.  Regulations prescribe what information should be 
kept in the register.  Copies of the register may be obtained on payment of a fee. 
 

13.0 COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT 
 
13.1 In exercising its functions with regard to the inspection of premises and to instituting 

criminal proceedings in respect of offences specified, the Licensing Authority will follow best 
practice. This requires that actions should be 

 
  Proportionate – intervention will only be when necessary.  Remedies should be 

appropriate to the risk posed and costs identified and minimised 
  Accountable – the Authority must be able to justify decisions and be subject to 

public scrutiny 
  Consistent – rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly 
  Transparent – enforcement should be open and regulations kept simple and user 

friendly 
  Targeted – enforcement should be focused on the problems and minimise side 

effects. 
 
13.2 The Licensing Authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes, 

so far as is possible, and adopt a risk based inspection programme. All enforcement action 
is taken having regard to Place Services: General Enforcement Policy. 

 
13.3 The main enforcement and compliance role of the Licensing Authority in terms of the Act, is 

to ensure compliance with the Premises Licence and other permissions which it authorises.   
The Gambling Commission is the enforcement body for Operating and Personal Licences.  
Concerns about the manufacture, supply or repair of gaming machines are not dealt with by 
the Licensing Authority but will be notified to the Gambling Commission. 

 
13.4 The Licensing Authority will keep itself informed of developments as regard to the 

Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy in its consideration of the regulatory 
functions of Local Authorities, and will have regard to best practice.  

 
13.5 Where appropriate, complaints will be investigated in accordance with the stepped 

approach outlined in the General Enforcement Policy. A copy of this document is available 
on the Council website. In the first instance we encourage complaints to be raised directly 
with the licensee or business concerned. 
 

13.6 As part of its inspection regime, the Licensing Authority may carry out test purchasing to 
ascertain if a licensee has robust policies in place to prevent underage gambling. Licence 
holders will always be advised of the outcome of the test. Where operators carry out their 
own test purchasing, The Licensing Authority expect to be advised of the results. Should 

35



 9 

the results show a failure then the Licensing Authority will, in the first instance, work with 
the operator to review and improve their policies and procedures. 
 

13.7 Where a Primary Authority Scheme is in place, the Licensing Authority will seek guidance 
from the Primary Authority before taking any enforcement action on matters covered by that 
scheme. At the time of the publication of this policy there were four Primary Authority 
arrangements with host local authorities: 
 

 Coral - London District of Newham 

 Ladbrokes - Milton Keynes 

 Paddy Power - Reading  
 William Hill - City of Westminster 
 

 

 
  

36



 10 

 

 

PART B 
PREMISES LICENCES 

 

 
 
14.0 GENERAL PRINCIPLES 
 
14.1 Premises Licences are subject to the permissions/restrictions set out in the Act as well as 

the specific mandatory and default conditions detailed in Regulations issued by the 
Secretary of State.  The Licensing Authority is able to exclude default conditions and also 
attach others, where it is thought appropriate. 

 
14.2  In accordance with section 150 of the Act, premises licences can authorise the provision of 

facilities on:  

 casino premises  

 bingo premises  

 betting premises, including tracks and premises used by betting intermediaries  

 adult gaming centre premises (for category B3, B4, C and D machines)  

 family entertainment centre premises (for category C and D machines) (note that, 
separate to this category, the licensing authority may issue a family entertainment 
centre gaming machine permit, which authorises the use of category D machines 
only) 

 
14.3 Each case will be decided on its merits, and will depend upon the type of gambling that is 

proposed, as well as taking into account how the applicant proposes that the Licensing 
Objective concerns can be overcome. 

 
14.4 The Licensing Authority is required by the Act, in making decisions about Premises 

Licences, to permit the use of premises for gambling so far as it thinks it::- 
 

a) in accordance with any relevant Code of Practice under Section 24 of the Act 
b) in accordance with any relevant Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 

under Section 25 
c) reasonably consistent with the Licensing Objectives (Subject to paragraphs a) and 

b)) and 
d) in accordance with the Licensing Authority’s Statement of Licensing Policy (subject 

to paragraphs a) and c)). 
 

14.5 Definition of Premises  
In the Act ‘premises’ is defined as including ‘any place’. It is for the Licensing Authority 
(having due regard for the Gambling Commission Guidance) to determine on the merits of 
each application whether different parts of a building can be regarded properly as separate 
premises. 
  
The Licensing Authority will pay particular attention to applications where access to the 
licensed premises is through other premises (which themselves may be licensed or 
unlicensed). 
 

14.6 Demand 
Demand is a commercial consideration and is not an issue for the Licensing Authority. 
 

14.7 Location  
Location will only be a material consideration in the context of the Licensing Objectives. 

 
14.8 The Act is clear that demand issues (e.g. the likely demand or need for gambling facilities in 

an area) cannot be considered with regard to the location of premises but that 

37



 11 

considerations in terms of the licensing objectives can. The Licensing Authority will pay 
particular attention to the objectives of protection of children and vulnerable persons from 
being harmed or exploited by gambling, as well as issues of crime and disorder. 

 
14.9 In order for location to be considered, the Licensing Authority will need to be satisfied that 

there is sufficient evidence that the particular location of the premises would be harmful to 
the licensing objectives. From 6th April 2016, it is a requirement of the Gambling 
Commission’s Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP), under section 10, that 
licensees assess the local risks to the licensing objectives posed by the provision of 
gambling facilities at their premises and have policies, procedures and control measures to 
mitigate those risks. In making risk assessments, licensees must take into account relevant 
matters identified in this policy. 

 
14.10 The LCCP also states that licensees must review (and update as necessary) their local risk 

assessments: 
a) to take account of significant changes in local circumstance, including those 

identified in this policy 
b) when there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may affect their 

mitigation of local risks 
c) when applying for a variation of a premises licence; and 
d) in any case, undertake a local risk assessment when applying for a new premises 

licence. 
 
14.11 The Licensing Authority expects the local risk assessment to consider as a minimum: 

 whether the premises is in an area of deprivation 

 whether the premises is in an area subject to high levels of crime and/or disorder 

 the ethnic profile of residents in the area, and how game rules, self-exclusion 
leaflets etc. are communicated to those groups 

 the demographics of the area in relation to vulnerable groups 

 the location of services for children such as schools, playgrounds, toy shops, leisure 
centres and other areas where children will gather and  

 places listed under 14.16 below 
 
14.12 In every case the local risk assessment should show how vulnerable people, including 

people with gambling dependencies, are protected. 
 
14.13 Other matters that the assessment may include: 

 The training of staff in brief intervention when customers show signs of excessive 
gambling, the ability of staff to offer brief intervention and how the manning of 
premises affects this 

 Details as to the location and coverage of working CCTV cameras, and how the 
system will be monitored 

 The layout of the premises so that staff have an unobstructed view of persons using 
the premises 

 The number of staff that will be available on the premises at any one time. If at any 
time that number is one, confirm the supervisory and monitoring arrangements 
when that person is absent from the licensed area or distracted from supervising the 
premises and observing those persons using the premises 

 Arrangements for monitoring and dealing with under age persons and vulnerable 
persons, which may include dedicated and trained personnel, leaflets, posters, self-
exclusion schemes, window displays and advertisements not to entice passers-by 
etc. 

 The provision of signage and documents relating to games rules, gambling care 
providers and other relevant information be provided in both English and the other 
prominent first language for that locality. 

 Where the application is for a betting premises licence, other than in respect of a 
track, the location and extent of any part of the premises which will be used to 
provide betting machines 

38



 12 

 The Licensing Authority expects all licensed premises’ to have their local area risk 
assessment available on site for inspection by an authorised officer at all times 
when they are trading 

 
14.14 Such information may be used to inform the decision the council makes about whether to 

grant a licence, to grant a licence with special conditions or to refuse an application. 
 
14.15 This policy does not preclude any application being made and each application will be 

decided on its merits, with the onus being upon the applicant to show how the concerns can 
be overcome. 

 
14.16 Local Area Profile 

 
The Gambling Commission introduced new provisions in the social responsibility code 
within the ‘Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice’ which require gambling operators to 
assess local risks to the licensing objectives posed by the provision of gambling facilities at 
each of their premises.  These provisions came into force on 6th April 2016 and apply to 
operators of; 

 Adult gaming centres 

 Family entertainment centres 

 Non remote betting 

 Non remote bingo 

 Non remote casinos 

 Remote betting intermediates (trading room only) 
 
This guidance has been produced to assist gambling operators in undertaking and 
preparing their local (premises) risk assessments.  There is no definitive list of factors or 
premises which would influence the risk assessment or which are considered sensitive but 
the Council considers that Operators should have regard to the following; 

 Playgrounds, parks and open spaces to which children are attracted 

 Schools and children’s centres 

 Youth Clubs 

 Scout groups 

 Nurseries 

 Leisure Centres 

 Doctors surgeries and clinics 

 Alcohol and drug support services 

 Homeless or rough sleeping centres 

 Places of worship 

Who is vulnerable? Findings from studies in Manchester and Westminster 

In their study, Manchester and Westminster conducted research to establish who may be 
at risk.   The research identified the following; 

Those with constrained social and economic circumstances.  This may include; 

 persons living in deprived areas,  

 the unemployed 

 low income groups,  

 persons experiencing social isolation and homelessness. 

Those with certain demographic characteristics such as age, gender and ethnicity. 
Although broadly accepted that these characteristics often serve as a proxy for other 
mechanism 
 

Persons with poor judgement; certain mental health conditions, learning disabilities or low 
educational attainment, temporary impairment, longer term difficulties due to substance 
use/ misuse issues etc. 

39



 13 

 
Other groups, such as problem gamblers seeking treatment or those with substance 
abuse/misuse issues. 

The Council has identified the location of premises that it considers sensitive and plotted these on 
the plan below.  Operators will wish to consider the location of these premises and any other 
sensitive premises known to the operator when carrying out their risk assessments.   

Plan 

Premises and facilities to be considered by an operator when producing a risk assessment 
will be included in a plan and published in the policy statement.  This will include the above 
list and any further premises or facilities identified during the public consultation. 

The obligation to produce a local risk assessment and to identify risk factors applies in the 
following circumstances; 

 On application for a new licence 

 On application for a variation to an existing licence 

 Where changes in the local environment or at the premises have been identified by the 
operator.  For example where a new school has been built or substantial new nearby 
development has taken place. 

Steps available to operators to mitigate local risks:  After making their risk assessment, the 
operator may wish to consider applying further controls.  Matters to be considered may include; 

 Staffing levels  

 The provision of enhanced staff training  

 The design of the facilities to enable gambling at the premises 

 The proposed security arrangements at the premises 

 The gambling products offered at the premises 

 Arrangements for publicity and marketing material at the premises 

 Display and provision of information at the premises 

The design and layout of the premises are key considerations and may have a significant 
impact on local risks to the licensing objectives.  Operators with premises located in areas 
with high numbers of children and young people may wish to avoid the use of a standard 
external design in order to reduce the risk of attracting young people.  The Council may add 
control measures identified in the operator’s assessment as conditions to be attached to the 
licence. 

 
14.17 The LAP should be given careful consideration when making an application. Applicants 

may be asked to attend a meeting with licensing officers to discuss the LAP and 
assessment, appropriate measures to mitigate risk in the area and how they might be 
relevant to their application. The local area profile will be presented to any subsequent 
licensing sub-committee when they determine an application that has received 
representations. The LAP should not be taken as the definitive overview of a particular area 
and applicants are encouraged to use their own local knowledge in addition to the content 
of the LAP to inform their local risk assessments. 

 
14.18 The Licensing Authority recognises that it cannot insist on applicants using the local area 

profiles when completing their risk assessments. However, an applicant who decides to 
disregard the LAP should be alert to the risk that they may face additional representations 
and the expense of a hearing as a result. A template of a suggested local risk assessment 
form for is included at Annex E. Applicants and licence holders may use this template or 
create their own. 

 
 
14.19 Duplication with other Regulatory Regimes 

40



 14 

 Duplication with other statutory/regulatory regimes will be avoided where possible.  The 
Licensing Authority will not consider whether a licence application is likely to be granted 
Planning Permission or Building Control consent. 

 
14.20 The Licensing Objectives   
 Premises Licences granted must be reasonably consistent with the three Licensing 

Objectives.  With regard to these Objectives, the following will be considered:- 
 

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder, or being used to support crime  –   
The Licensing Authority is aware that there is a distinction between disorder and 
nuisance and that the prevention of nuisance is not a Licensing Objective under the 
Act. 

 
  Whilst the Licensing Authority is aware that the Gambling Commission takes a 

leading role in preventing gambling from being a source of crime, it will pay attention 
to the proposed location of gambling premises in terms of this Licensing Objective. 

 
  Where an area has known high levels of organised crime, the Licensing Authority 

will consider carefully whether gambling premises are suitable to be located there 
and the need for conditions, such as the provision of Door Supervisors. 

 
  Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way  – 
  The Gambling Commission does not generally expect Licensing Authorities to be 

concerned with ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way.  
However, the Licensing Authority will familiarise itself with operator licence 
conditions and will communicate any concerns to the Gambling Commission about 
misleading advertising or any absence of required game rules or other matters as 
set out in the Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and Code of Practice. 

 
  Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 

exploited by gambling  – 
  In practice, the Objective of protecting children from being harmed or exploited by 

gambling often means preventing them from taking part in, or being in close 
proximity to, gambling. 

 
  There is no definition of the term ‘vulnerable person’ in the Act, but this could 

include people who are gambling beyond their means and people who may not be 
able to make informed or balanced decisions about gambling due to a mental 
impairment, or substance misuse of alcohol or drugs. 

 
The Licensing Authority will consider very carefully whether applications for 
Premises Licences in respect of gambling premises located close to schools, 
centres for gambling addicts, or residential areas where there may be a high 
concentration of families with children, should be granted and will fully scrutinise the 
control measures outlined in an operator’s local area risk assessment in this regard. 

 
The Licensing Authority will consider whether specific measures are required at 
particular premises, with regard to this licensing objective. Appropriate measures 
may include supervision of entrances / machines, segregation of areas etc. 

 
14.21 Conditions  

The Licensing Authority is aware that the mandatory and default conditions imposed by the 
Gambling Commission will normally be sufficient to regulate gambling premises.  In 
exceptional cases where there are specific risks or problems associated with a particular 
locality, specific premises or class of premises the Authority may consider attaching 
individual conditions related to the Licensing Objectives. 

  
 Any conditions attached to Licences will be proportionate and will be:- 

41



 15 

 
  relevant to the need to make the proposed premises suitable as a gambling facility 
  directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for 
  fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises and 
  reasonable in all other respects. 
 

In addition, the Licensing Authority will examine how applicants propose to address the 
Licensing Objectives.  In considering applications the Licensing Authority will particularly 
take into account the following, if deemed appropriate; 

 

 Proof of age schemes 

 Closed Circuit Television 

 Door Supervisors 

 Supervision of entrances/machine areas 

 Physical separation of areas 

 Location of entrances 

 Notices and signage 

 Specific opening hours and  

 With particular regard to vulnerable persons, measures such as the use of self- barring 
schemes, provision of information, leaflets, helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare. 

 
14.22 It is recognised that there are conditions which the Licensing Authority cannot attach to 

Premises Licences.  These are:- 
  any conditions on the Premises Licence which make it impossible to comply with an 

Operating Licence condition 
  conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of operation; 
  conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required (the Act 

specifically removes the membership requirement for casino and bingo clubs and 
this provision prevents it being reinstated) 

  conditions in relation to stakes, fees, and the winning of prizes. 
 
14.23 Credit 
 Credit facilities are prohibited from being provided in casinos and bingo licensed premises.  

Cash machines (ATM's) may be installed in such premises but the Licensing Authority may 
apply conditions as to where they are sited. 

 
14.24 Betting Machines  [See Annex C for definition] 
 In relation to Casinos, Betting Premises and Tracks, the Licensing Authority can restrict the 

number of betting machines, their nature and the circumstances in which they are made 
available by attaching a licence condition to a Betting Premises Licence or to a Casino 
Premises Licence (where betting is permitted in the Casino).   

 
14.25 When considering whether to impose a condition to restrict the number of betting machines 

in particular premises, the Licensing Authority, among other things, shall take into account:- 
 

 the size of the premises 
 the number of counter positions available for person to person transactions and 
 the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and young persons or 

by vulnerable persons.   
 

14.26 In deciding whether to impose conditions to limit the number of betting machines, each 
application will be considered on its own merit and account will be taken of Codes of 
Practice or Guidance issued under the Act. 

 
14.27 In all applications where a plan is required to be submitted, The Licensing Authority 

expectation is that, it will be in a scale of 1:50 unless otherwise agreed in writing and that, 
as a minimum, it will show the following (as appropriate to the type of application): 

 The extent of the proposed licensed area 

42



 16 

 All entry and exit points (including fire exits) 

 CCTV camera positions 

 Positions of betting terminals, high pay out machines (including fixed odds betting 
terminals) and ATM’s 

 Any fixed or permanent structures including counters 

 Privacy screens (see also section 21 of this policy) 

 All unlicensed areas under the control of the licensee including any ‘sterile area’s’ 
and toilet and kitchen facilities be they for  staff or public use. 

 
15.0 PROVISIONAL STATEMENTS 
 
15.1 An application for a provisional statement may be made in respect of premises which the 

applicant  

 expects to be constructed 

 expects to be altered 

 expects to acquire a right to occupy. 
 

The applicant should refer to the Act and the detailed information provided in the Guidance 
 
16.0 REVIEWS 
 
16.1 Applications for a Review of a Premises Licence may be made by Responsible Authorities 

and Interested Parties.   
 
16.2 It is for the Licensing Authority to decide whether the review is to be carried out. This 

decision will generally be on the basis of whether the request for the review is relevant to 
the matters listed below; 

 Whether the grounds for the request raises issues relevant to the principles to be 
applied by the Licensing Authority and set out within the Licensing Authority 
Statement of Policy 

 Whether the grounds for the request are frivolous or vexatious 

 Whether the grounds for the request would certainly not cause the Licensing 
Authority to alter/revoke/suspend the Premises Licence 

 Whether the grounds for the request are substantially the same as previous 
representations or requests for a review 

 In accordance with any relevant codes of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission 

 In accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission. 

 Reasonably consistent with the Licensing Objectives 
 
16.3 In accordance with the Guidance. The Licensing Authority can also initiate a review of a 

Licence on the basis of any reason which it thinks is appropriate 
 
17.0 ADULT GAMING CENTRES  
 
17.1 An Adult Gaming Centre is defined in Annex ‘C’.  Entry to these premises is age restricted. 
 
17.2 The Licensing Authority will take account of any conditions applied to an Operating Licence 

in respect of such premises. 
 
18.0 LICENSED FAMILY ENTERTAINMENT CENTRES 
 
18.1 A Licensed Family Entertainment Centre is defined in Annex ‘C’.  Entry to these premises is 

not generally age restricted although entry to certain areas may be restricted, dependent on 
the category of machines available for use. 

 
18.2 The Licensing Authority will take account of any conditions applied to an Operating Licence 

in respect of such premises. 

43



 17 

 
19.0 CASINOS 
 
19.1  A casino is defined in Annex ‘C’.  Entry to these premises is age restricted 
 
19.2 The Licensing Authority is empowered to pass a resolution not to issue new licences for 

casinos in its area.  No such resolution has been made. 
 
19.3 The Licensing Authority will take account of any conditions applied to an Operating Licence 

in respect of such premises. 
 
19.4 Betting Machines 
 Conditions may be imposed, in accordance with paragraphs 14.13, 14.24, 14.25 and 14.26, 

above. 
 
19.5 In deciding whether to impose conditions to limit the number of betting machines, each 

application will be on its own merits and account will be taken of Codes of Practice or 
Guidance issued under the Act. 

 
19.6 Credit 
 Credit facilities are prohibited in casinos, however, this does not prevent the installation of 

cash dispensers (ATMs) on the premises, although the Licensing Authority may attach 
conditions as to the siting of such machines. 

 
20.0 BINGO PREMISES   
 
20.1 Bingo is defined in Annex ‘C’.  Entry to these premises is not generally age restricted 

although entry to certain areas may be restricted, dependent on the category of machines 
available for use. 

 
20.2 The Licensing Authority will take account of any conditions applied to an Operating Licence 

in respect of such premises. 
 
20.3 Credit 
 Credit facilities are prohibited in premises licensed for Bingo, however, this does not 

prevent the installation of cash dispensers (ATMs) on the premises, although the Licensing 
Authority may attach conditions as to the siting of such machines. 

 
21.0 BETTING PREMISES 
 
21.1 Betting is defined in Annex ‘C’. Entry to these premises is age restricted. 
 
21.2 The Licensing Authority will take account of any conditions applied to an Operating Licence 

in respect of such premises. 
 
21.3 Betting Machines 
 Conditions may be imposed, in accordance with paragraphs 14.24, 14.25 and 14.26 above. 
 
21.4 In deciding whether to impose conditions to limit the number of betting machines, each 

application will be on its own merits and account will be taken of Codes of Practice or 
Guidance issued under the Act. 

 
21.5 Fixed Odds Betting Terminals (FOBT’s) 
 In respect to nationally expressed concerns that exist in relation to the potentially adverse 

impact FOBT’s may have on vulnerable groups of adults, The Licensing Authority will give 
due consideration to the need to apply conditions to betting shop premises licences 
including, but not limited to, setting out minimum staffing levels to ensure sufficient staff are 
on the premises to enable staff to comprehensively promote responsible gambling, 
adequately protect players, particularly in relation to players who are deemed to be 

44



 18 

vulnerable  and to prevent under 18 year olds accessing gambling facilities.   During the 
review period, the government had indicated the law dealing with FOBT’s would be revised. 

 
21.6 The Licensing Authority expects FOBT’s to be positioned in such a way that they can be 

appropriately monitored by staff particularly where those staff are positioned at a counter 
away from the machines. In general the Authority is of the view that ‘privacy screens’ will 
hamper this and will expect the local area risk assessment to take this into account where 
applicants intend to construct such screens. Particular attention should be paid to the 
Gambling Commission’s Social Responsibility Codes in this regard, especially code 9.11.1. 
Where an existing licensee adds ‘privacy screens’ a variation application will be required. 
 

22.0 TRACKS 
 
22.1 A Track is defined in Annex ‘C’. Entry to these premises may be age restricted. Please refer 

to the Gambling Commission Guidance. 
 
22.2 The Licensing Authority will take account of any conditions applied to an Operating Licence 

in respect of such premises. 
 
22.3 Betting Machines 
 Conditions may be imposed, in accordance with paragraphs 14.24, 14.25 and 14.26 above. 
 
22.4 In deciding whether to impose conditions to limit the number of betting machines, each 

application will be on its own merits and account will be taken of Codes of Practice or 
Guidance issued under the Act 

 
23.0 TRAVELLING FAIRS 
 
23.1 Facilities for gambling (being category D machines and/or equal chance prize gaming 

without a permit) must amount to no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair.  The 
Licensing Authority will determine whether this requirement is being met. 

 
  

45



 19 

 

 

PART C 
PERMITS 

 
 

24.0 The Act introduced a range of permits for gambling which are granted by Licensing 

Authorities. Permits are required when premises provide a gambling facility but either the 
stakes and prizes are very low or gambling is not the main function of the premises. The 
permits regulate gambling and the use of gaming machines in a specific premises. With the 
exception of limiting machine numbers on Licensed Premises Gaming Machine permits, the 
Licensing Authority may only grant or reject an application for a permit. No conditions may 
be added. 

 

25.0 UNLICENSED FAMILY ENTERTAINMENT CENTRE   
 GAMING MACHINE PERMITS 

 
25.1 Where a premises does not hold a Premises Licence but wishes to provide Gaming 

machines, it may apply to the Licensing Authority for a Permit.  It should be noted that the 
applicant must show that the premises will be wholly or mainly used for making gaming 
machines available for use. 

 
25.2 The Licensing Authority requires the applicant to submit a scale plan of the premises 

showing the areas which the permit will cover together with any other areas under the 
control of the licensee. Generally, this will be at a scale of 1:100 but other scales may be 
submitted with prior agreement from the Licensing Authority. Full details can be found in 
section 14.27 

 
25.3 The Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to show that there are written policies and 

procedures in place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is not limited to 
harm from gambling but includes wider child protection considerations.  The suitability of 
such policies and procedures will be considered on their merits, however, they may 
include:- 
   
 A basic Disclosure & Barring Service check or equivalent criminal record check for the 

applicant and the person(s) having the day to day control of the premises 
 Proof of age schemes 

 How the applicant proposes to ensure that children will be protected from harm whilst 
on the premises 

 Training covering how staff would deal with:- 
 unsupervised, very young children being on the premises 
 children causing perceived problems on/around the premises, or 
 suspected truant children 

 
In addition applicants should be able to demonstrate a full understanding of maximum 
stakes and prizes (and that staff are suitably trained in this respect) 

 
26.0 (ALCOHOL) LICENSED PREMISES GAMING MACHINE PERMITS 
 
26.1 There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on the 

premises to automatically have two gaming machines, of Categories C and/or D via a 
notification to the Licensing Authority. 

 
26.2 Gaming machines can only be located on licensed premises that have a bar for serving 

customers. 
 
26.3 Premises restricted to selling alcohol only with food, will not be able to have gaming 

machines or apply for a Permit. 

46



 20 

 
26.4 Where an application for more than two gaming machines is received, the Licensing 

Authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons 
from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the 
Authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not 
have access to the adult only machines.  Measures will cover such issues as:- 

  
 Adult machines being in sight of the bar; 
 Adult machines being in sight of staff who will monitor that the machines are not being 

used by those under 18; 
 Appropriate notices and signage; and 
 As regards the protection of vulnerable persons, the Licensing Authority will consider 

measures such as the use of self-barring schemes, provision of information, 
leaflets/help line numbers for organisations such as GamCare. 

 Relevant codes of practice issued by the Gambling Commission 
 

 The Licensing Authority can decide to grant an application with a smaller number of 
machines and/or a different category of machines than that applied for but conditions other 
than these cannot be attached. 

 
27.0 PRIZE GAMING PERMITS[See Annex C for definition] 

 
27.1 The Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to show that there are written policies and 

procedures in place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is not limited to 
harm from gambling but includes wider child protection considerations.  The suitability of 
such policies and procedures will be considered on their merits, however, they may 
include:- 
   
 A basic Disclosure & Barring Service check or equivalent criminal record check for the 

applicant and the person having the day to day control of the premises. 
 Proof of age schemes 

 How the applicant proposes to ensure that children will be protected from harm whilst 
on the premises. 

 Training covering how staff would deal with:- 
 unsupervised, very young children being on the premises 
 children causing perceived problems on/around the premises and 
 suspected truant children 

  
In addition applicants should be able to demonstrate a full understanding of maximum 
stakes and prizes (and that staff are suitably trained in this respect) 

 
 In making its decision on an application for a Permit, the Licensing Authority does not need 

to have regard to the Licensing Objectives but must have regard to any Gambling 
Commission guidance. 

 
28.0 CLUB GAMING AND CLUB MACHINE PERMITS 
 
28.1 Members’ Clubs and Miners’ Welfare Institutes may apply for a Club Gaming Permit and/or 

a Club Gaming Machine Permit, but are restricted by category and number of machines 
and to equal chance gaming and games of chance. 

 
28.2 Commercial clubs may apply for a club machine permit, subject to restrictions 
 
28.3

 
 The gambling provided under the authority of a club gaming permit must also meet the 

following conditions:  

 
(a) in respect of gaming machines; 
- no child or young person may use a category B or C machine on the premises  

47



 21 

- the holder must comply with any relevant provision of a code of practice about the 
location and operation of gaming machines 

(b) public, children and young persons must be excluded from any area of the premises 
where the gaming is taking place. 

 
28.4 Section 273 of the Act sets out the conditions that will apply to the club machine permit, 

including that in respect of gaming machines no child or young person uses a category B or 
C machine on the premises and that the holder complies with any relevant provision of a 
code of practice about the location and operation of gaming machines.  

  

48



 22 

 

 

PART D 
OCCASIONAL AND TEMPORARY PERMISSIONS 

 
 
 
29.0 TEMPORARY USE NOTICES (TUN) 
 
29.1 A ‘TUN’ is defined in Annex ‘C’. 
 
29.2 A TUN may only be granted to a person or company holding an Operating Licence relevant 

to the temporary use of the premises.  Regulations issued by the Secretary of State 
prescribe the activities to be covered.  At present a Temporary Use Notice can only be 
issued for equal chance gaming.  

 
29.3 For the purposes of a TUN, a set of premises is the subject of a TUN if any part of the 

premises is the subject of the Notice.  This prevents one large premises from having a TUN 
in effect for more than 21 days per year by giving a Notice in respect of different parts. 

 
29.4 The definition of a "set of premises" will be a question of fact in the particular circumstances 

of each Notice that is given.  In considering whether a place falls within the definition of "a 
set of premises", the Licensing Authority will consider, amongst other things, the 
ownership/occupation and control of the premises. 

 
29.5 The Licensing Authority will object to Notices where it appears that their effect would be to 

permit regular gambling in a place that could be described as one set of premises. 
 
30.0 OCCASIONAL USE NOTICES 
 
30.1 Occasional Use Notices (OUN) are defined in Annex ‘C’. 
 
30.2 The Licensing Authority has very little discretion as regards these Notices, aside from 

ensuring that a statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded. 
 
30.3 The Licensing Authority will, however, consider the definition of a track and whether the 

applicant is permitted to avail him/herself of the Notice. 
 
31.0 SMALL SOCIETY LOTTERIES 
 
31.1 The definition of a Small Society Lottery is contained in Annex ‘C’ and these require 

registration with the Licensing Authority. 
 
32.0 APPENDICES 
 
32.1 Appendices have been attached to this Statement providing further information and 

guidance and they are intended only to assist readers and should not be interpreted as 
legal advice or as constituent of the Licensing Authority's policy.  Readers of this document 
are strongly advised to seek their own legal advice if they are unsure of the requirements of 
the Act, or the guidance or regulations issued under the Act. 

 
33.0 DELEGATION OF POWERS 
 
33.1 The Licensing Authority has agreed a scheme of delegation for discharging its functions 

under the Act. 
  

34.0 DEFINITIONS – Annex ‘C’ 

49



 23 

35.0 FEES – Annex ‘F’ 
 
36.0 USEFUL CONTACTS 
 
The Gambling Commission maintains a list of useful contacts on organisations involved in 
gambling and their contact details can be found on the Commission’s website 
www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk Some of these organisations provide codes of practice on their 
particular interest area. 
 
 
 

50

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/


 24 

ANNEX 'A' 
 

List of Consultees  
 
The draft policy was placed on the Council Website and in accordance with the Act the 
following organisations and individuals were consulted as part of the formal consultation 
exercise on the Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy. 
 

 All responsible Authorities for the Gambling Act (as specified in Annex 2) 

 Holders of Premises Licences and Permits under the Gambling Act 2005 

 Regeneration Services HDC  

 Revenues & Benefits  

 Safer Harlow Partnership  

 Environmental Health  

 Services Supported Housing  

 Harlow Youth Council  

 Young Concern Trust  

 Harlow Chamber of Commerce 

 Children’s Centres  

 Head of Child Protection  

 Director of Adults Safeguarding  

 Her Majesty's Commissioners of Customs and Excise  

 NACRO  

 Citizens Advice Bureau  

 Addison House Health Centre  

 Church Langley Medical Practice  

 Lister Medical Centre  

 Old Harlow Health Centre  

 NHS Private Medical Services  

 Nuffield House  

 Hamilton Practice  

 Ross Practice  

 St Mark's West Essex Catholic School  

 Passmores Comprehensive School  

 Mark Hall School  

 Stewards School  

 Burnt Mill School  

 Aspire Academy  

 Harlow Fields School  

 Harlow College  

 University Centre Harlow  

 GAMCARE  

 GAM-ANON  

 Street2Homes  

 Community Mental Health Team  

 Safer Places  

 Harlow Food Bank  

 Great Open Door 

 Street Pastors  

 Freshwaters Contact Centre 

 Family Solutions  

 Family Mosaic  

51



 25 

 Salvation Army  

 Jehovah's Witnesses - Harlow  

 Harlow Hindu Sabha  

 Harlow Islamic Centre (HIC)  

 Harlow Jewish Community  

 Harlow Sikh Society  

 Our Lady of the Assumption  

 Our Lady of Fatima and St Thomas More  

 SGI - UK (Buddhist Lay Society)  

 Heart4Harlow  

 St. Andrews Methodist Church  

 St Mary at Latton  

 St Stephens Church  

 St Paul's Church  

 St Mary's Church (Little Parndon)  

 Potter Street Baptist Church  

 Oakwood Chapel  

 Lutheran Church of the Reedemer Kingsmoor Community Church  

 Harlow Baptist Church  

 Gateway Christian Fellowship (Evangelical)  

 Church Langley Church  

 Harefield Church 
In addition to those specifically consulted, (insert) requests were received for copies of the 
draft Policy Document.  
  
In addition to those specifically consulted, no requests were received for copies of the draft 
Policy Document, although the web page where it was located received ??? ‘hits’ 
 

52



 26 

ANNEX 'B' 
 

Contact Details for the Licensing Authority and Responsible Authorities 
 
The Licensing Authority is: 
 

Harlow District Council 
Licensing Team 
Civic Centre 
The Water Gardens 
Harlow, CM20 1WG  Telephone: 01279 446005 
 
Email: licensing@harlow.gov.uk 

 
The Responsible Authorities are: 
 
a) The Chief Officer of Police 

Essex Police Licensing Unit 
PO Box 12306 
Police Station 
Newland Street, 
Witham, CM8 2AS 

Telephone: 101 ext 452035 
E:mail licensing.applications@essex.pnn.police.uk  
 
Guidance from Essex Police on their expectations for licence applications can be 
found on their website at: www.essex.police.uk/licensing  

 
b) Essex CountyFire and Rescue Service 

West Area Command, Harlow Service Delivery Point,  
Harlow, CM20 1DU                               Telephone 01376 576800 

 
c) The Local Planning Authority 

Harlow Council Development Control 
Civic Centre, The Water Gardens,  
Harlow. CM20 1WG    Telephone: 01279 446655 

 
d) The Local Authority with functions related to prevention of risk of pollution of the 

environment:- 
 

Environmental Protection 
Harlow Council 
Civic Centre,  
Harlow, CM20 1WG    Telephone: 01279 446655 
 
Email: env.health@harlow.gov.uk  

 
e) The body designated by the Licensing Authority as being competent to advise on 

the Authority about protection of children from harm. 
 

 Essex Safeguarding Children Service 
 
f) The Gambling Commission 
 Victoria Square House  

53

mailto:licensing@harlow.gov.uk
mailto:licensing.applications@essex.pnn.police.uk
http://www.essex.police.uk/licensing
mailto:env.health@harlow.gov.uk


 27 

 Victoria Square 
 Birmingham 
 B2 4BP    Telephone: 0121 230 6500 
 
 
g) Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs 

National Registration Unit 
Betting & Gaming  
Cotton House 
& Cochrane Street 
Glasgow 
G1 1HY 
 

Telephone:  03000 516023 
 
Email: NRUBetting&Gaming@HMRC.gsi.gov.uk  

 
  

Any further enquiries or assistance can be obtained from the Licensing Authority on 
the email address or telephone number given above. These addresses were correct 
at the time of going to press but are subject to change without notice. Any change 
made will not form part of a review of the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

54

mailto:NRUBetting&Gaming@HMRC.gsi.gov.uk


 28 

ANNEX 'C' 
 

DEFINITIONS 
 

Please note, definitions listed below are for guidance only and do not form part of 
the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy or will necessarily appear within it. 

 

Term Description 

 
ATM 

 
Auto teller machine or cash machine. 

 
Adult Gaming Centre 

 
Premises in respect of which an Adult Gaming Centre 
Premises Licence has effect. 

 
Authorised Local Authority 
Officer 

 
A Licensing Authority Officer who is an authorised 
person for a purpose relating to premises in that 
Authority's area. 

 
Betting 

 

In this Act “betting” means making or accepting a bet 
on—  

(a) the outcome of a race, competition or other event or 
process,  

(b) the likelihood of anything occurring or not occurring, 
or  

(c) whether anything is or is not true.  

 

 
Betting Machines 

 
A machine designed or adapted for use to bet on future 
real events [not a gaming machine]. 

 
Bingo 

 
Bingo is not given a statutory definition in the Act other 
than that it means any version of the game irrespective 
of by what name it is described. It is to have its ordinary 
and natural meaning. Two types of bingo are commonly 
understood:  

 cash bingo, where the stakes paid make up the 
cash prizes that are won  

 prize bingo, where various forms of prizes are 
won, not directly related to the stakes paid.  

 
Casino 

 
An arrangement whereby people are given an 
opportunity to participate in one or more casino games. 

 
Casino Resolution 

 
Resolution not to issue Casino Premises Licences. 

 
Child 

 
Individual who is less than 16 years old. 

 
Club Gaming Machine Permit 

 
Permit to enable the premises to provide gaming 
machines [3 machines of Categories B,C or D.] 

 
Conditions 

 
Conditions to be attached to licences by way of:- 
 

55



 29 

 Automatic provision 
 Regulations provided by Secretary of State 
 Conditions provided by Gambling Commission 
 Conditions provided by Licensing Authority 
 
Conditions may be general in nature [either attached to 
all licences or all licences of a particular nature] or may 
be specific to a particular licence. 

 
Crane grab machine 

 
A non-money prize machine in respect of which every 
prize which can be won consists of an individual physical 
object (such as a stuffed toy) won by a person’s success 
in manipulating a device forming part of the machine so 
as to separate, and keep separate, one or more physical 
objects from a group of such objects. 

 
Default Conditions 

 
Conditions, prescribed in regulations, that will apply 
unless the Licensing Authority decides to exclude them.  
This may apply to all Premises Licences, to a class of 
Premises Licence or Licences for specified 
circumstances. 

 
Delegated Powers 

 
Decisions delegated either to a Licensing Committee, 
Sub-Committee or Licensing Officers. 

 
Disorder 

 
No set interpretation.  However, likely to be connected to 
the way gambling is being conducted.  In the case of 
Gambling Premises' Licences, disorder is intended to 
mean activity that is more serious and disruptive than 
mere nuisance. 

 
Equal Chance Gaming 

 
Games that do not involve playing or staking against a 
bank and where the chances are equally favourable to 
all participants. 

 
Exempt Lotteries 

 
Lotteries specified in the Gambling Act as permitted to 
be run without a licence form the Gambling Commission.  
There are four types: 

 Small Society Lottery [required to register with 
Licensing Authorities. 

 Incidental Non Commercial Lotteries. 

 Private Lotteries. 

 Customer Lotteries. 

 
Family Entertainment Centre 
(FEC) 

 
There are two types of FEC:- 
A licensed FEC (ie one with a Premises Licence) has no 
limit on the number of category C or D machines 
permitted 
An unlicensed FEC (ie one with a Permit) has no limit on 
the number of category D machines permitted 

 

56



 30 

 
Fixed Odds Betting Terminals 
(FOBTs) 

 
FOBTs are a type of gaming machine which generally 
appear in licensed bookmakers. (Betting Shops) FOBTs 
have ‘touch-screen’ displays and look similar to quiz 
machines familiar in pubs and clubs. They normally offer 
a number of games, roulette being the most popular. 

 
Gaming & game of chance 

 

In the Act “gaming” means playing a game of chance for 
a prize.  

and “game of chance”—  

(a) includes—  

(i) a game that involves both an element of chance and 
an element of skill,  

(ii) a game that involves an element of chance that can 
be eliminated by superlative skill, and  

(iii) a game that is presented as involving an element of 
chance, but  

(b) does not include a sport 

 
Gaming Machine 

 
Machine covering all types of gambling activity, including 
betting on virtual events, but not including home 
computers even though users can access online 
gambling websites. 

 
Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities 

 
Guidance issued periodically by the Gambling 
Commission  

 
Incidental Non Commercial 
Lottery 

 
A lottery promoted wholly for purposes other than private 
game, and which are incidental to non commercial 
events [commonly charity fundraising events, lottery held 
at a school fete or at a social event such as a dinner 
dance] 

 
Lottery 

 
An arrangement which satisfies the statutory description 
of either a simple lottery or a complex lottery in Section 
14 of the Act. 

 
Members' Club 

 
A club, as defined by the Licensing Act 2003, that must:- 
 Have at least 25 members; 
 Be established and conducted 'wholly or mainly' for 

purposes other than gaming; 
 Be permanent in nature; 
 Not be established to make commercial profit; 
 Be controlled by its members equally. 

 
Money prize machine 

 
A machine in respect of which every prize which can be 
won as a result of using the machine is a money prize. 

 
Non-money prize machine 

 
A machine in respect of which every prize which can be 

57



 31 

won as a result of using the machine is a non-money 
prize. The winner of the prize is determined by: 
(i) the position in which the coin or token comes to rest 
after it has been inserted into the machine, together with 
the position of other coins or tokens which have 
previously been inserted into the machine to pay a 
charge for use, or 
(ii) if the insertion of a single coin to pay the charge for 
use enables the person using the machine to release 
one or more tokens within the machine, the position in 
which such tokens come to rest after being released, 
together with the position of other tokens which have 
previously been so released. 

 
Occasional Use Notice (OUN) 

 
Betting may be permitted on a 'track' by an OUN without 
the need for a full Premises Licence. 

 
Odds 

 
The ratio to which a bet will be paid if the bet wins. e.g. 
3-1 means for every £1 bet, a person would receive £3 
of winnings. 

 
Off Course Betting 

 
Betting that takes place other than at a track, i.e. at a 
licensed betting shop. 

 
Off Course Betting - Tracks 

 
Betting that takes place in a self-contained betting 
premises with the track premises providing facilities for 
off course betting, i.e. on other events, not just those 
taking place on the track.  Normally operates only on 
race days. 

 
On Course Betting – Tracks 

 
Betting that takes place on a track while races are taking 
place. 

 
Operating Licence 

 
Licence to permit individuals and companies to provide 
facilities for certain types of gambling.  It may authorise 
remote or non remote gambling. 

 
Permits 
 

 
Authorisation to provide a gambling facility where the 
stakes and prizes are very low or gambling is not the 
main function of the premises. 

 
Personal Licence 

 
Formal authorisation to individuals who control facilities 
for gambling or are able to influence the outcome of 
gambling.  Cannot be held by companies. 

 
Pool Betting – Tracks 

 
For the purposes of the Gambling Act, pool betting is 
made on terms that all or part of the winnings: 1) Shall 
be determined by reference to the aggregate of the 
stakes paid or agreed to be paid by the persons betting 
2) Shall be divided among the winners or 3) Shall or may 
be something other than money. For the purposes of the 
Gambling Act, pool betting is horse-race pool betting if it 
relates to horse-racing in Britain. 

  

58



 32 

Private Lotteries There are three types of Private Lotteries: 
 
 Private Society Lotteries - tickets may only be sold to 

members of the Society or persons who are on the 
premises of the Society; 

 
 Work Lotteries - the promoters and purchasers of 

tickets must all work on a single set of work 
premises; 

 
 Residents' Lotteries - promoted by, and tickets may 

only be sold to, people who live at the same set of 
premises. 

 
Prize Gaming 

 
Where the nature and size of the price is not determined 
by the number of people playing or the amount paid for 
or raised by the gaming.  The prizes will be determined 
by the operator before play commences. 

 
Prize Gaming Permit 

 
A permit to authorise the provision of facilities for gaming 
with prizes on specific premises. 

 
Regulations or Statutory 
instruments 

 
Regulations are a form of law, often referred to as 
delegated or secondary legislation. They have the same 
binding legal effect as Acts and usually state rules that 
apply generally, rather than to specific persons or things. 
However, regulations are not made by Parliament. 
Rather, they are made by persons or bodies to whom 
Parliament has delegated the authority to make them, 
such as a minister or an administrative agency. 

 
Representations 

 
In the context of the Gambling Act representations are 
either positive statements of support or negative 
objections which are made in relation to a licensing 
application. Representations must be made in time, e.g. 
during a designated notice period. 

 
Responsible Authorities 

 
Public Bodies that must be notified of all applications 
and who are entitled to make representations in relation 
to Premises Licences, as follows:- 
 
 The Licensing Authority in whose area the premises 

is partly or wholly situated 
 The Gambling Commission 
 The Chief Officer of Police 
 Fire and Rescue Service 
 The Planning Authority for the local authority area 
 Environmental Health Service for the local authority 

area 
 The Body competent to advise on the protection of 

children from harm 
 HM Revenue and Customs 
 Authority in relation to vulnerable adults 
 Vessels only - the Navigation Authority whose 

59



 33 

statutory functions are in relation to waters where the 
vessel is usually moored or berthed, i.e. the 
Environment Agency, British Waterways Board, the 
Maritime and Coastguard Agency 

 
Full details of Responsible Authorities for the District are 
contained in Appendix 'B' to this Policy. 

 
Skill machine / Skill with prizes 
machine 

 
The Act does not cover machines that give prizes as a 
result of the application of pure skill by players. A skill 
with prizes machine is one on which the winning of a 
prize is determined only by the player’s skill – any 
element of chance imparted by the action of the machine 
would cause it to be a gaming machine. An example of a 
skill game would be trivia game machines, popular in 
pubs and clubs, which require the player to answer 
general knowledge questions to win cash prizes. 

 
Small Society Lottery 

 
A lottery promoted on behalf of a non commercial 
society, i.e. lotteries intended to raise funds for good 
causes. 

 
Society 

 
The society, or any separate branch of such a society, 
on whose behalf a lottery is to be promoted.  

 
Stake 

 
The amount pledged when taking part in gambling 
activity as either a bet, or deposit to the bank or house 
(where the house could be a gaming machine). 

 
Table gaming 

 
Card games played in casinos. 

 
Temporary Use Notice (TUN) 

 
To allow the use of a premises for gambling where there 
is no Premises Licence but where a gambling operator 
wishes to use the premises temporarily for providing 
facilities for gambling. 

 
Tote [or Totalisator] 

 
 "Tote" is short for Totaliser, a system introduced to 
Britain in 1929 to offer pool betting on racecourses. 

 
Track 

 
Sites where races or other sporting events take place, 
e.g. horse racing, dog racing or any other premises on 
any part of which a race or other sporting event takes 
place or is intended to take place. 

 
Vehicles 

 
Defined as trains, aircraft, sea planes and amphibious 
vehicles other than hovercraft.  No form of commercial 
betting and gaming is permitted. 

 
Vulnerable Persons 

 
No set definition, but likely to mean group to include 
people who:- 
 gamble more than they want to 
 gamble beyond their means 
who may not be able to make informed or balanced 
decisions about gambling due to a mental impairment, 

60



 34 

alcohol or drugs 

 
Young Person 

 
An individual who is not a child but who is less than 18 
years old. 

61



 35 

ANNEX 'D' 
 

   

62



 36 

 
ANNEX 'E' 

 
Local Area Risk Assessment Example Template 

 

1: Local Area 

No  Local Risks:  Licensing objective(s) at risk: 
(CD, FO or CV)  

Control Measures 

1.1   Systems 

 
 
 
 

Design 

 
 
 
 
 

Physical 

 
 
 
 

1.2   Systems 

 
 
 
 

Design 

 
 
 
 
 

Physical 

 
 
 
 

1.3   Systems 

 
 
 
 

Design 

 
 
 
 
 

Physical 

 
 

 
 

63



 37 

2: Gambling Operation 

No  Local Risks:  Licensing objective(s) at risk: 
(CD, FO or CV)  

Control Measures 

2.1   Systems 

 
 
 
 

Design 

 
 
 
 
 

Physical 

 
 
 
 

2.2   Systems 

 
 
 
 

Design 

 
 
 
 
 

Physical 

 
 
 
 
 

3.3   Systems 

 
 
 
 
 

Design 

 
 
 
 
 

Physical 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

64



 38 

3: Internal and External Premises Design 

No  Local Risks:  Licensing objective(s) at risk: 
(CD, FO or CV)  

Control Measures 

3.1   Systems 

 
 
 
 
 

Design 

 
 
 
 
 

Physical 

 
 
 
 

3.2   Systems 

 
 
 
 
 

Design 

 
 
 
 
 

Physical 

 
 
 
 
 

3.3   Systems 

 
 
 
 
 

Design 

 
 
 
 
 

Physical 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

65



 39 

Actions following assessment: 

1: Local Area 

Action Person/Dept tasked Date tasked Date completed 

    

    

    

    

    

2: Gambling Operation 

Action Person/Dept tasked Date tasked Date completed 

    

    

    

    

    

3: Internal and External Premises Design 

Action Person/Dept tasked Date tasked Date completed 

    

    

    

    

    

 

Signed: 
 
 

 Date:  

 

Print Name: 
 
 

 

 
 
 
Notes: In addition to the requirement for existing licence holders to have a local area risk 
assessment, this risk assessment must be completed for all new premises or when the premises 
licence is varied. The assessment must also be reviewed when there are any significant changes 
to either the local circumstances and/or the premises. see section 14 of this policy) 
 
Risks: Area of consideration that may impact on one or more of the licensing objectives 
Local Risks: These are the identified factors that may pose a risk to the licensing objectives 
by virtue of the provision of gambling facilities at the premises  
 
Licensing Objectives: these are the three licensing objectives under the Gambling Act 2005 to 
which the risk factors have been identified as potentially impacting. For ease of reference 
within this assessment the objectives have been given codes that should be used to replace 
the full objective. These codes are CD for the Crime and Disorder objective, FO for the Fair 
and Open objective and CV for the protection of children and the vulnerable. 
 
Control Measures: These are measures that the operator can put in place to mitigate the risk 
to the licensing objectives from the risk factors. These control measures are split into three 
categories, systems, design and physical. 
 
The fact that there are three subsections in each section of the template should not be taken to 
suggest that you should limit your assessment to three risks for each section. The above template 
is an example only. You are at liberty to use your own design. 
 
 
 

66



 40 

 
 

ANNEX 'F’ 
 
 

Non statutory fees are reviewed by the Licensing Authority on an annual basis in 
accordance with the Gambling (Premises Licence Fees) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2007.  Details of current fees can be obtained by contacting  
 

Harlow Council 
Civic Centre 
The Water Gardens 
Harlow 
Essex   CM20 1WG    Telephone: 01279 446005 
 
Email: licensing@harlow.gov.uk  

 
or alternatively by viewing the Council’s Website www.harlow.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

67

mailto:licensing@harlow.gov.uk
http://www.harlow.gov.uk/


REPORT TO: 
 

CABINET 

DATE: 
 

6 DECEMBER 2018 

TITLE: 
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 
STATEMENT 2018/19: MID-YEAR REVIEW 
 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 
 
 

COUNCILLOR MIKE DANVERS, PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER FOR RESOURCES 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

SIMON FREEMAN, HEAD OF FINANCE  
(01279) 446228 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER:  
 

ANDREW SMITH, FINANCE MANAGER 
(01279) 446212 

 
 
This is a Key Decision 
It is on the Forward Plan as Decision Number I008568 
The decision is not subject to Call-in Procedures for the following reason: 
The decision stands as a recommendation to Full Council 
This decision will affect no ward specifically. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A The Mid-Year Review of the Treasury Management Strategy, attached as 

Appendix A to the report, be noted and referred to Council for consideration. 
 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 
A Compliance with the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice, requires 

that Council is presented with a mid-year report on The Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement (TMSS). 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. Treasury management is defined as: “The management of the local authority’s 

investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market 
transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those activities; 
and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.” 
 

2. On 10 February 2011, Council adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management (as 
revised November 2009) – “the Code”. 

 
3. The primary requirements of the Code are as follows: 

 

68

Agenda Item 9c



a) Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy 
Statement; 
 

b) Creation  and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices (TMPs); 
 

c) Receipt by the Council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement (TMSS), including Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy for the year ahead, a Mid-Year Review of the 
Treasury Management Strategy and an Annual Report (stewardship 
report); 
 

d) Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and 
monitoring treasury management policies and practices and for the 
execution and administration of treasury management decisions; and 
 

e) Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of treasury 
management strategy and policies to a specific named body. For this 
Council the current TMSS specifies that responsibility for the delegated 
scrutiny role is delegated to the Cabinet Overview Working Group. 

 
 

ISSUES/PROPOSALS 
 
4. As part of the primary requirements for reporting to Council, the mid-year review 

of the TMSS has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice, 
and is attached to this report as Appendix A. Economic commentary has been 
provided by the Council’s Treasury Management Advisors, Arlingclose Ltd.  
 

5. Whilst no new external borrowing has been undertaken by the Council so far in 
2018/19, existing borrowing comprises the protection and certainty of fixed-term 
debt.   

 
6. The Bank Rate increased from 0.25 per cent to 0.75 per cent in August 2018. 

Analysts believe that base rate is likely to rise very slowly over the next two to 
three years, but will by no means return to levels of a decade or so ago. The 
Council’s overriding response is to ensure the security of investments above 
liquidity and yield. The effect of Brexit with prospect of a ‘no deal’ is a cause for 
concern. Officers aim to ensure that investments are made in the most cost 
efficient and effective manner. 

 
7. On an on-going basis, officers continue to work within the scope of the TMSS in 

order to contain counterparty risk as far as practically possible. Treasury 
management activities operate under a high-profile reporting mechanism, and 
any significant issues that may arise through the year are reported in 
accordance with protocols set out in the TMSS. 

 
 
 
 
 

69



IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (Includes Sustainability) 
None specific. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing on behalf of Graeme 
Bloomer, Head of Place 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance 
 
Housing 
None specific. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
None specific. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (Includes HR) 
None specific. 
Author: Colleen O’Boyle, Interim Head of Governance 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Harlow Council Treasury Management Strategy Mid-Year Review 
2018/19 
 
Background Papers 
 
Treasury Management Strategy 2018/19 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
Arlingclose – The Council’s appointed treasury management advisors. 
CIPFA – Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy  
TMPs – Treasury Management Practices 
TMSS – Treasury Management Strategy Statement 

 

70



1 

 

APPENDIX A 
 

HARLOW COUNCIL 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 

MID-YEAR REVIEW, 2018/19 
 

Summary of the Report  

 
1. This report provides an update on economic conditions impacting on the Council 

and focusses on any major issues affecting borrowing and investments. 

2. A full commentary is provided within this report by the Council’s treasury 

management advisors, Arlingclose Ltd.  In summary whilst there was a Bank Rate 

rise on 2 August 2018 from 0.5% to 0.75%, interest rates have remained at an 

historic low following the UK referendum in June 2016 to leave the European Union 

(EU). 

3. Officers are considering the cost and benefit of investments whilst recognising an 

overall need to ensure deposits are securely placed. 

4. At all times the Council will take steps to protect its investment portfolio by placing 

security (the reduction of risk in order to protect the return of capital sums) and 

liquidity (being able to have immediate access to a reasonable amount of funds so 

that cashflow obligations may be met) above yield (i.e. the interest paid on 

investments). 

5. Brexit, which includes the possibility of ‘no deal’ with European nations, is a 

concern.  Arlingclose writes that banks are inherently safe from financial shock but 

encourages Councils to ensure that investment through the Government’s Debt 

Management Office is available as a fall-back strategy.  It is. 

6. In setting the Council’s strategy for 2019/20, a full report will be presented to 

Cabinet and  Council in January / February 2019.  This will be in conjunction with 

the 2019/20 budget proposals and Capital Strategy. 

7. The Treasury Management Strategy for 2018/19 has been underpinned by the 

adoption of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s ‘Treasury 

Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice’ (the CIPFA Code) which 

requires the Council to approve treasury management half-year and annual reports. 

8. The Council is supported by treasury management advisors, Arlingclose Ltd., in 

decision making.  

Background 

9. The Council’s treasury management strategy for 2018/19 was approved at a 

meeting of  Council on 1 February 2018.  The Council has invested substantial 

sums of money and is therefore exposed to financial risks including the loss of 

invested funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  The successful 

71



 

2 
 

identification, monitoring and control of risk is therefore central to the Council’s 

treasury management strategy. 

10. Following consultation in 2017, CIPFA published new versions of the ‘Prudential 

Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities’ (Prudential Code) and the ‘Treasury 

Management Code of Practice’ but has yet to publish the local authority specific 

Guidance Notes to the latter.  In England the Ministry of Housing Communities and 

Local Government (MHCLG) published its revised Investment Guidance which 

came into effect from April 2018.   

11. The updated Prudential Code includes a new requirement for local authorities to 

provide a Capital Strategy, which is to be a summary document approved by  

Council covering capital expenditure and financing, treasury management and non-

treasury investments.  The Council will be producing its Capital Strategy later in 

2018/19 for approval by  Council early in 2019.  

External Context: A commentary provided by the Council’s Treasury 
Management advisors, Arlingclose Ltd. (October 2018) 

 
12. Economic background:  Oil prices rose by 23% over the six months to around 

$82 a barrel.  UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) for August 2018 rose to 2.7% year 

on year, above the consensus forecast and that of the Bank of England’s in its 

August ‘Inflation Report’, as the effects of sterling’s large depreciation in 2016 

began to fade.  The most recent labour market data for July 2018 showed the 

unemployment rate at 4%, its lowest since 1975.  The 3-month average annual 

growth rate for regular pay, i.e. excluding bonuses, was 2.9% providing some 

evidence that a shortage of workers is providing support to wages.  However real 

wages (i.e. adjusted for inflation) grew only by 0.2%, a marginal increase unlikely to 

have had much effect on households.  

 

13. The rebound in quarterly GDP growth in Q2 (Apr-Jun) to 0.4% appeared to overturn 

the weakness in Q1 (Jan-Mar) which was largely due to weather-related factors. 

However, the detail showed much of Q2 GDP growth was attributed to an increase 

in inventories.  Year on year GDP growth at 1.2% also remains below trend.  The 

Bank of England made no change to monetary policy at its meetings in May and 

June, however hawkish minutes and a 6-3 vote to maintain rates was followed by a 

unanimous decision for a rate rise of 0.25% in August, taking Bank Rate to 0.75%. 

 

14. Having raised rates in March, the US Federal Reserve again increased its target 

range of official interest rates in each of June and September by 0.25% to the 

current 2%-2.25%.  Markets now expect one further rise in 2018.  

 

15. The escalating trade war between the US and China as tariffs announced by the 

Trump administration appeared to become an entrenched dispute, damaging not 

just to China but also other Asian economies in the supply chain. The fallout, 

combined with tighter monetary policy, risks contributing to a slowdown in global 

economic activity and growth in 2019.  

 

16. The ‘EU Withdrawal Bill’, which repeals the ‘European Communities Act 1972’ that 

72



 

3 
 

took the UK into the EU and enables EU law to be transferred into UK law, narrowly 

made it through Parliament.  With just six months to go when ‘Article 50’ expires on 

29 March 2019, neither the Withdrawal Agreement between the UK and the EU 

which will be legally binding on separation issues and the financial settlement, nor 

its annex which will outline the shape of their future relationship, have been 

finalised, extending the period of economic uncertainty. 

 

17. Financial markets: Gilt yields displayed marked volatility during the period, 

particularly following Italy’s political crisis in late May when government bond yields 

saw sharp moves akin to those at the height of the European financial crisis with 

falls in yield in safe-haven UK, German and US government bonds.  Over the 

period, despite the volatility, the bet change in gilt yields was small.  The 5-year 

benchmark gilt only rose marginally from 1.13% to 1.16%.  There was a larger 

increase in 10-year gilt yields from 1.37% to 1.57% and in the 20-year gilt yield 

from 1.74% to 1.89%.  The increase in Bank Rate resulted in higher money 

markets rates. 1-month, 3-month and 12-month LIBID rates averaged 0.56%, 

0.70% and 0.95% respectively over the period. 

 

18. Credit background: Reflecting its perceived higher risk, the Credit Default Swap 

(CDS) spread for non-ringfenced bank NatWest Markets plc rose relatively sharply 

over the period to around 96bps. (0.96%).  The CDS for the ringfenced entity, 

National Westminster Bank plc, has held steady below 40bps. (0.40%).  Although 

the CDS of other UK banks rose marginally over the period, they continue to 

remain low compared to historic averages. 

19. The ringfencing of the big four UK banks - Barclays, Bank of Scotland/Lloyds, 

HSBC and RBS/Natwest Bank plc – is complete, the transfer of their business lines 

into retail (ringfenced) and investment banking (non-ringfenced) is progressing and 

will need to be completed by the end of 2018. 

 

20. There were a few credit rating changes during the period. Moody’s downgraded 

Barclays Bank plc’s long-term rating to A2 from A1 and NatWest Markets plc to 

Baa2 from A3 on its view of the credit metrics of the entities post ringfencing.  

Upgrades to long-term ratings included those for Royal Bank of Scotland plc, 

NatWest Bank and Ulster Bank to A2 from A3 by Moody’s and to A- from BBB+ by 

both Fitch and Standard & Poor’s (S&P).  Lloyds Bank plc and Bank of Scotland plc 

were upgraded to A+ from A by S&P and to Aa3 from A1 by Moody’s.  

 

21. The Council’s banker is Barclays Bank with whom money is deposited overnight 

and therefore fully liquid. 

 
22. Our treasury advisor Arlingclose will henceforth provide ratings which are specific 

to wholesale deposits including certificates of deposit, rather than provide general 

issuer credit ratings.  Non-preferred senior unsecured debt and senior bonds are at 

higher risk of bail-in than deposit products, either through contractual terms, 

national law, or resolution authorities’ flexibility during bail-in. Arlingclose’s 

creditworthiness advice will continue to include unsecured bank deposits and CDs 

73



 

4 
 

but not senior unsecured bonds issued by commercial banks.  The Council does 

not invest in the latter. 

 

Local Context 

 
23. On 31 March 2018, the Council had net investments of £37.490m arising from its 

revenue and capital income and expenditure. The underlying need to borrow for 

capital purposes is measured by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), while 

usable reserves and working capital are the underlying resources available for 

investment.  These factors are summarised in Table 1 below. 

 
Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary 

 
31.3.18 
Actual 

£m 

General Fund CFR 46.258 

HRA CFR 187.370 

Total CFR 233.628 

Less: Other debt liabilities - 

Borrowing CFR 233.628 

External borrowing (-)211.837 

Internal borrowing 21.791 

Less: Usable reserves (-)51.581 

Less: Working capital (-)7.700 

Net investments (-)37.490 

 

24. The Council’s current strategy is to maintain borrowing and investments below their 

underlying levels, sometimes known as internal borrowing, in order to reduce risk 

and keep interest costs low. 

 

25. The treasury management position at 30 September 2018 and the change during 

the period is show in Table 2 below. 

 

Table 2: Treasury Management Summary 

 
31.3.18 
Balance 
£m 

Movement 
£m 

30.9.18 
Balance 
£m 

30.9.18 
Rate 
% 

Public Works Loan Board  211.837 - 211.837 3.309 

Total borrowing 211.837 - 211.837 3.309 

Short-term investments 

Cash and cash equivalents 

(-)15.300 

(-)22.190 

8.300 

(-)15.820 

(-)7.000 

(-)38.010 

1.79 

0.68 

Total investments (-)37.490 (-)7.520 (-)45.010 0.852 

Net borrowing 174.347 (-)7.520 166.827  

 

 

 

74



 

5 
 

Borrowing Strategy during the period 
 

26. At 30 September 2018 the Council held £211.837m of loans.  Taking advice from 

Arlingclose there is no current requirement to undertake new external borrowing in 

2018/19 because the cost of carrying external debt remains high as well as 

recognising risks of bail-in for the investment market. 

 

Table 3: Borrowing Position 

 
31.3.18 
Balance 
£m 

Net 
Movement 
£m 

30.9.18 
Balance 
£m 

30.9.18 
Weighted 
Average 
Rate 
% 

30.9.18 
Weighted 
Average 
Maturity 
(years) 

Public Works Loan Board 211.837 - 211.837 3.309 16.8 

Total borrowing 211.837 - 211.837   

 

Treasury Investment Activity  
 

27. The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income received in 

advance of expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  During the six-month 

period, the Council’s investment balance ranged between £37.490m and £53.740m 

due to timing differences between income and expenditure.  The investment 

position is shown in table 4 below. 

 

Table 4: Treasury Investment Position 

 
31.3.18 
Balance 
£m 

Net  
Movement 
£m 

30.9.18 
Balance 
£m 

30.9.18 
Rate of 
Return 
% 

30.9.18 
Weighted 
Average 
Maturity 
days 

Banks & building societies (unsecured) 

Local authorities 

Money Market Funds 

Other Pooled Funds: 

Cash plus fund 

Property fund 

0.020 

19.300 

14.170 

 

2.000 

2.000 

0.830 

7.700 

(-)1.010 

 

- 

- 

0.850 

27.000 

13.160 

 

2.000 

2.000 

0.60 

0.73 

0.63 

 

0.56 

4.24 

1 

106 

1 

 

Total investments 37.490 7.520 45.010   

 

28. Both the CIPFA Code and government guidance require the Council to invest its 

funds prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its treasury 

investments before seeking the optimum rate of return, or yield.  The Council’s 

objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk 

and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk of 

receiving unsuitably low investment income. 

 

29. In furtherance of these objectives, and given the increasing risk and falling returns 

from short-term unsecured bank investments, the Council is not routinely placing 

unsecured deposits with individual banks and building societies preferring instead 

to spread risk in Money Market Funds, a Cash Plus Fund and a Property Fund.  It 

75



 

6 
 

has found local authority investment to be a secure means of investment. The 

progression of risk and return metrics are shown in the extracts from Arlingclose’s 

quarterly investment benchmarking in Table 5 below. 

 
Table 5: Investment Benchmarking – Treasury investments managed in-house 

 
Credit 
Score (see 
Note below) 

Credit 
Rating 

Bail-in 
Exposure 

Weighted 
Average 
Maturity 
(days) 

Rate of 
Return 
% 

Harlow DC 

31.03.2018 

30.09.2018 

 

4.10 

4.25 

 

AA- 

AA- 

 

42% 

34% 

 

53 

70 

 

0.73% 

0.86% 

Similar LAs 

All LAs 

4.28 

4.38 

AA- 

AA- 

56% 

60% 

88 

37 

1.37% 

1.17% 

 

Note: Through benchmarking information provided by Arlingclose, the Council has adopted a voluntary 

measure of its exposure to credit risk by monitoring the value-weighted average credit score of its 

investment portfolio.  This is calculated by applying a score to each investment (AAA=1, AA+=2, etc.) 

and taking the arithmetic average, weighted by the size of each investment. Unrated investments are 

assigned a score based on their perceived risk.  The table above shows that Harlow Council’s exposure 

to risk is similar to other Councils, but with less bail-in exposure as a consequence of not making direct 

investments in banks or building societies at this time.  Investments in Money Market Funds carry bail-in 

risk but the risk itself is spread across numerous counter-parties. 

 

30. The Council’s £4m of externally managed pooled property and multi asset funds is 

likely to generate an average total return in 2018/19 of £98,400 (2.46%).  Because 

these funds have no defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal after a 

notice period, their performance and continued suitability in meeting the Council’s 

investment objectives is regularly reviewed.  

 
31. MHCLG consulted on statutory overrides relating to the IFRS 9 Financial 

Instruments accounting standard from 2018/19.  The consultation recognised that 

the requirement in IFRS 9 for certain investments to be accounted for as fair value 

through profit and loss may introduce “more income statement volatility” which may 

impact on budget calculations.  The consultation proposed a time-limited statutory 

override and sought views whether it should be applied only to pooled property 

funds.  The Council responded to the consultation which closed on 28 September, 

stating that the statutory override should not be time-limited to three years and 

should apply to all pooled funds.  In the event, MHCLG agreed that the statutory 

override should apply for at least five years.  

 
Non-Treasury Investments 

 
32. The definition of investments in CIPFA’s revised Treasury Management Code now 

covers all the financial assets of the Council as well as other non-financial assets 

which the Council holds primarily for financial return.  This is replicated in MHCLG’s 

Investment Guidance, in which the definition of investments is further broadened to 

also include all such assets held partially for financial return.  

 

33. The Council also holds £3.436m of such investments in:  

76



 

7 
 

 loans to local businesses and landlords, £2.5m; 

 loans to subsidiaries, HTS (Property & Environment) Ltd,  £0.936m. 

 

34. These investments will generate approximately £176,000 of credit income for the 

Council, representing a rate of return of 4.75%.   

 

35. In addition the Council holds nine assets, classed as ‘Investment Properties’, solely 

for the purpose of generating income.  The annual rental income totals £124,000, 

representing a return of 6.67% on the capital value. 

 

Compliance  

 

36. The Head of Finance reports that all treasury management activities undertaken 

during the first half of the financial year complied fully with the CIPFA Code of 

Practice and the Council’s approved Treasury Management Strategy. 

 

Outlook for the remainder of 2018/19 

 

37. Having raised policy rates in August 2018 to 0.75%, the Bank of England’s 

Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) has maintained expectations of a slow rise in 

interest rates over the forecast horizon. 

 
38. The MPC has a definite bias towards tighter monetary policy but is reluctant to 

push interest rate expectations too strongly.  While policymakers are wary of 

domestic inflationary pressures over the next two years, it is believed that the MPC 

members consider both that (a) ultra-low interest rates result in other economic 

problems, and that (b), higher Bank Rate will be a more effective weapon should 

downside Brexit risks crystallise and cuts are required.  

 

39. Arlingclose’s central case is for Bank Rate to rise twice in 2019.  The risks are 

weighted to the downside. The UK economic environment is relatively soft, despite 

seemingly strong labour market data. GDP growth recovered somewhat in Q2 (Apr-

Jun) 2018, but the annual growth rate of 1.2% remains well below the long term 

average. 
 

 
 

40. The view is that the UK economy still faces a challenging outlook as the minority 

government continues to negotiate the country's exit from the European Union. 

Central bank actions and geopolitical risks, such as prospective trade wars, have 

and will continue to produce significant volatility in financial markets, including bond 

markets. 

 

77



REPORT TO: 
 

CABINET 

DATE: 
 

6 DECEMBER 2018 
 

TITLE: 
 

REFERRAL FROM CABINET OVERVIEW 
WORKING GROUP– REVIEW OF LOCAL 
COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME PROPOSALS 
2019/20 
 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 
 
 

COUNCILLOR MIKE DANVERS, PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER FOR RESOURCES 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

SIMON FREEMAN, HEAD OF FINANCE 
(01279) 446228 
 

 
This is a Key Decision 
It is on the Forward Plan as Decision Number I008572 
The decision is not subject to Call-in Procedures for the following reason: 
The decision stands as a recommendation to Full Council 
This decision will affect no ward specifically. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A Cabinet recommends to Full Council that the current scheme remains 

unchanged for 2019/20 and that the introduction of fixed period awards for Local 
Council Tax Support is not implemented at the current time and kept under 
review. 

 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 
A The Cabinet Overview Working Group (COWG) considered a report on the 

review of the Local Council Tax Support scheme (LCTSS) at meeting on 29 
November 2018 and referred the matter to Cabinet for consideration. 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. At its meeting on 29 November, the COWG received a report on a review of the 

LCTSS. 
 

2. The COWG noted the responses received from the public consultation on the 
LCTSS and an Equality Impact Assessment of the proposed change to the 
Scheme. 

 
3. The COWG has made a recommendation to that the introduction fixed period 

awards for the LCTSS is deferred for 12 months and kept under review. 
 

78

Agenda Item 9d



IMPLICATIONS 
 
Implications of the recommended decision are outlined in the ‘Implications’ section of 
the original report, which is attached as Appendix 1.  
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 – Original report to the Cabinet Overview Working Group, ‘Local Council 
Tax Support Scheme Proposals 2019/20’ 
 
Background Papers 
 
All original reports to the Cabinet Overview Working Group can be viewed from 
http://moderngov.harlow.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=250&MId=1078&Ver=4 

 
Glossary of Terms/Abbreviations Used 
 
None. 

79

http://moderngov.harlow.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=250&MId=1078&Ver=4


REPORT TO: 
 

CABINET OVERVIEW WORKING GROUP 

DATE: 
 

29 NOVEMBER 2018  

TITLE: 
 

LOCAL COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 
PROPOSALS 2019/20 – REPORT 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

SIMON FREEMAN, HEAD OF FINANCE   
(01279) 446228 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER:  
 

DONNA BEECHENER, REVENUES AND 
BENEFITS MANAGER (01279) 446245 

 
 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A Acknowledges the current position regarding the 2018/19 Local Council Tax 

Support Scheme and endorses continuing stability within the scheme for 
2019/20. 
 

B Recommends to Cabinet that the proposal to introduce fixed period awards for 
Local Council Tax Support is deferred for 12 months and kept under review. 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. In accordance with the Welfare Reform Act 2012, and the Local Government 

Finance Act 2012, councils are required to implement a Local Council Tax 
Support Scheme (LCTSS) annually, and by 31 January each year at the latest 
for the forthcoming financial year. 

 
2. The Pan Essex working group, originally established to consider a County wide 

approach to the localisation of council tax support, has continued to work very 
effectively. Having focussed on the development of the local schemes, more 
recently the work has been looking at those exemptions and discounts awarded 
to council tax payers. As a result the group has now implemented a range of 
measures targeted at ensuring that each council across Essex undertakes work 
on a consistent basis to help protect the tax base in each district. Work will 
continue to be undertaken in 2018/19 to ensure compliance and to check and 
challenge council tax reductions awarded for which entitlement may have 
subsequently changed or be no longer appropriate. 

 
Local Council Tax Support (LCTS) 
 
3. The national Council Tax Benefit (CTB) scheme, which was wholly funded by 

Central Government and administered locally by billing authorities, was 
abolished with effect from 1 April 2013. Each council was charged with 
designing and implementing its own local scheme for the 2013/14 financial year 
against a backdrop of a 10 per cent reduction in national funding when 
compared with CTB. The scheme must be reviewed annually and the Council 

80

adam.rees
Typewritten Text

adam.rees_1
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1 

adam.rees_2
Typewritten Text



approved its local scheme for the 2018/19 financial year at its meeting held on 
14 December 2017. 

 
4. Prior to the introduction of LCTS there had been no cap on CTB expenditure 

under the national scheme. However under LCTS, Government funding was 
restricted through the introduction of a cash limit in the form of a fixed grant. In 
addition, the grant was set at a level which was 10 per cent less than the 
previous council tax benefit expenditure estimated from 2012/13. For the Council 
this represents a reduction in funding of around £1.3 million per annum from 
April 2013. 

 
5. The grant for LCTS was originally identified specifically within the Council’s 

overall Revenue Support Grant and retained Business Rates income for 
2013/14. The level of funding for 2014/15 and future years has not been 
identified in the same way and has been included in the Council’s overall 
Revenue Support Grant and Retained Business Rates – overall Formula 
Funding. As a result of this there is no protection for the LCTS funding and it is 
subject to the wider Government cuts to local government funding. Since the 
introduction of the scheme the Councils overall funding has reduced by over 47 
per cent but there has been no reduction in the Councils support of its LCTS 
scheme. 

 
6. In order to ensure that Pensionable Age customers should be no worse off 

under the local scheme, national rules remain in place for this group of 
claimants. As protection remains in place for those of Pensionable Age, the 
impact of the reduction in funding has fallen upon Working Age claimants as 
reported during the implementation of the 2013/14, 2014/15, 2015/16, 2016/17 
and 2017/18 2018/19 schemes. 

 
7. The Council is part of a Pan Essex Project Group, with a remit to design an 

Essex Framework for LCTS. The principles of the framework were reported to 
Cabinet on 12 July 2012. On 22 November 2012 the Council adopted a LCTS 
scheme following public consultation during the summer of 2012 based on these 
principles, which are detailed below. For comparison purposes, the LCTS 
schemes for the other Essex district councils are attached as Appendix A: 

 
a) The scheme will be cost neutral; 

 
b) Council tax support will continue to be assessed on a means tested 

basis; 
 

c) Council tax support will not be paid above Council tax band H; 
 

d) Council tax support is capped at 76 per cent of council tax liability; 
 

e) The first £25 of weekly earnings are disregarded in the calculation of 
support; 
 

f) There is no entitlement to support where the applicant has capital of 
over £6,000; and 

81



 
g) Second adult rebate and underlying entitlement were abolished to 

remove the administrative burden of these. 
 
 

ISSUES/PROPOSALS 
 
8. The Council has ensured that in the development of its local scheme the 

eligibility criteria for LCTS remains aligned with the previous national council tax 
benefit scheme, with specific protection for families and persons with disabilities. 
In addition and despite the reductions in overall Government grant received by 
the Council the scheme has been supported and maintained without variation to 
the above principles. 

 
9. The 2013/14 scheme was designed to deliver savings of £1,361,235 to ensure 

that expenditure on LCTS did not exceed the total Government funding allocated 
for the scheme.  At the time of writing this report the LCTS scheme costs for the 
current and previous financial years are as follows: 

 
LCTS 
Award 

Pensionable Age Working Age Total LCTS 
Award 

Date Live Case 
load 

LCTS 
Spend 

Live  Case 
load 

LCTS 
Spend 

 

1 April 
2013 

3,819 £3,535,031 5,302 £3,810,068 £7,345,099 

      

31 March 
2014 

3,673 £3,483,230 5,189 £3,741,202 £7,117,494 

      

31 March 
2015 

3,547 £3,240,964 4,890 £3,363,313 £6,604,277 

      

31 March 
2016 

3,291 £2,941,981 4.469 £3,184,219 £6,126,200 

      

31 March 
2017 

3,099 £2,936,255 4,510 £3,068,939 £6,005,195 

      

30 
September 

2017 

3,027 £2,895,860 4,147 £3,144,517 £6,040,377 

30 
September 

2018 

2843 £,2859,265 4,427 £3,378,867 £6,238,132 

 
10. The Government sets a Formula Funding Settlement for monies it will pay 

across to local authorities to support their services and legal obligations. In 
recent years the funding provided by the Government has fallen substantially 
with consistent annual reductions on previous years’ funding.  So, whilst the cost 
to the Council for LCTS had reduced by just over £1.3 million between 2013/14 
and 2016/17 (and, using projections, by £1.1 million between 2013/14 and 
2018/19), the Council received a reduction in mainstream Government funding 

82



of £2.3 million (over £3.3 million between 2013/14 and 2018/19). The following 
chart illustrates how the reductions in annual LCTS cost falls short of the annual 
funding reductions from Government. 

 

 
 

11. It was estimated that the in-year council tax collection rate for 2013/14 in Harlow 
would be affected by the introduction of LCTS and could fall by over three per 
cent compared to the collection rate in 2012/13. Council tax collection at the end 
of the second quarter in 2018/18 is reported at 56.07 per cent, compared to a 
collection rate of 56.83 per cent for the same period in the 2012/13 financial 
year. 

 

 Date  Council Tax Collection Rate 

30 September 2012 56.83% 

30 September 2013 56.60% 

30 September 2014 56.28% 

30 September 2015 56.71% 

30 September 2016 56.75% 

30 September 2017 56.48% 

30 September 2018 56.07% 

 
12. At the time of writing this report: 

 
a) Council tax collection rate is currently exceeding original forecasts. The 

introduction of a 12 month instalment scheme by the Government in 
2014 will also be impacting on the collection statistics when compared 
with prior years with income having been collected predominantly over 
10 months. 

83



b) The additional funding provided within the agreement with the 
precepting bodies has enabled employment of extra staff dedicated to 
working with LCTS claimants. This has meant that the normal collection 
processes on the remaining non LCTS clients has not been 
compromised. 
 

c) There is continuing good engagement with LCTS claimants meaning 
that it has been possible to agree payment arrangements with residents 
at an early stage, and reducing avoiding the need for further recovery 
action. 

 
13. Recovery action for council tax in LCTS cases has been taken in accordance 

with legislation with the addition of the specialist advice from the LCTS officers. 
Of all working age LCTS claimants, including those with closed LCTS claims, 
1,203 (23.67 per cent) have received a final notice where a payment has not 
been received and 813 (16 per cent) claimants have been summonsed in the 
current financial year. Where a summons has been issued, the Council 
continues to work to engage with those affected to provide support and advice to 
reach a payment solution wherever possible, subject to the claimant’s 
willingness to disclose relevant information and work with Council officers. The 
table below provides a comparison with previous years. 
 

14. Whilst the collection position is currently higher than expected and the level of 
support being awarded has fallen overall, recovery of amounts falling due can 
take several years to collect and it is currently still early in the operation of the 
new scheme to be able to forecast what the overall final collection position will 
be for each year.  

 
LCTS 2019/20 Proposals 
 
15. Officers are keeping the performance of the LCTS scheme under review but as 

the Council plans for 2019/20 the scheme is still only in its sixth year of 
operation. Given the complexities of the scheme, the large claimant base and 
other national factors outside of the Council’s control this is still seen as a 
relatively short period on which to base judgements and future estimates. There 
are ongoing significant Government led welfare reforms being either proposed or 
implemented, the impacts of which are difficult to analyse and quantify at this 
time. 
 

16. Universal Credit Full service was introduced in Harlow in September 2017. 
Where claimants of Universal Credit (UC) are in work, UC is calculated using 
real time information Pay As You Earn (PAYE) information. This can result in 
varying UC entitlement levels from month to month. Where the claimant is in 
receipt of LCTS, this variation in UC entitlement will result in a change in the 
level of LCTS each month, which increases or reduces the balance of council 
tax payable. This interaction with the council tax statutory instalment scheme 
results in customers receiving multiple bills over the financial year, with revised 
monthly instalments becoming due. This can lead to confusion, non-payment, 
and potentially a hampering of the collection and recovery process. 

84



17. In order to mitigate the impacts of UC, Officers have considered the introduction 
of fixed award periods to the LCTS scheme, whereby the LCTS award would be 
fixed for 6 months for those in receipt of UC. This option would enable the 
authority to calculate or recalculate a person’s entitlement to LCTS every six 
months. Whilst the monthly fluctuations would be reduced, the introduction may 
disadvantage some applicants in the short term as changes that may increase 
LCTS would not be taken into account until the next assessment period. 
Additionally there would be a need for exceptions to take effect in the fixed 
period, for example, an increase in earnings above a specified level, a change in 
the household makeup, or change in employment. As these exceptions would 
trigger a reassessment in the fixed period, there would be no reduction in day to 
day administration as officers would still need to review each UC notification to 
assess whether the change fell into the list of agreed exceptions.  
 

18. Officer’s analysis of council tax accounts has identified that intervention and 
contact with customers will deliver wider benefits than the introduction of fixed 
benefit periods. Proactive work and contact with those not making regular 
payments will enable specialist officers to provide a wider range of assistance 
and support. There is also merit in making contact with those making regular 
payments as a small change such as altering the date of monthly direct debit 
payments could minimise any fluctuation in instalments. 

 
19. Whilst the analysis of the interaction of UC changes and council tax support 

indicates that fixed periods could minimise the impact of UC changes, at the 
time of writing this report officers were only able to analyse the first six months of 
the current financial year and the evidence has not been conclusive. The 
analysis also highlighted that some customers would be adversely impacted by 
the change, and again it has not been possible to quantify the impact of this. For 
these reasons, officers recommend that the situation be kept under review for 
another 12 months. 

 
20. As at 31 October 2018, 1,203 recipients of LCTS had received a final notice 

compared to 1,076 at the same point in 2017. Additionally the number receiving 
a summons has not reduced compared to this point last year, which indicates 
that the interaction with UC has not seriously hampered the council tax recovery 
process.   

 
21. Overall, monitoring of the local scheme indicates that it is operating well and that 

collection of the amounts billed to claimants is being maintained. Engagement 
with residents impacted by the changes has also been extremely good. In order 
to maintain certainty for both claimants and the Council, the proposals for the 
scheme in 2019/20 are to maintain the restriction on the entitlement to support at 
24 per cent for a sixth year and that the reductions to the Councils core Formula 
Funding will not be passed on to claimants despite further reductions being 
forecast for 2019/20 as part of the Government’s measures to reduce 
expenditure. 

 
 
 
 

85



Public Consultation 
 

22. A public consultation on the LCTS scheme for 2018/19 was conducted during 
October 2018. Consultation ended on 31 October 2018 and the results are 
shown at Appendix C. The consultation made one proposal for change to the 
scheme, which was intended to simplify its operation and administration, 
minimising the impact of monthly Universal Credit changes.  The option and the 
consultation responses are set out in the following paragraphs of the report. 

 
Option 1 – Fixed Period Assessments 
 
23. The option will apply only to people receiving UC where their UC entitlement is 

amended due to changes in their UC income. As UC is calculated using real 
time information, a person’s entitlement to UC often changes each month. This 
in turn changes a person’s entitlement to LCTS each month which then changes 
the amount that they have to pay for council tax each month. This option will 
enable the authority to calculate or recalculate a person’s entitlement to Local 
Council Tax Support every six months. 
 

24. By fixing the assessment period, this will avoid multiple changes, be less 
confusing, avoid the constant recalculations of Council Tax instalments, allow a 
person to budget over a six month period and will aid administration. 

 
25. The benefit of this is: 
 

a) It is a clear and simple change to the current scheme; 
 

b) It is administratively simple and will potentially make administrative 
savings; 
 

c) It will help people to budget over longer periods; and 
 

d) It may benefit some applicants in the short term as changes that may 
decrease Council Tax Support for a person would not be taken into 
account until the new assessment period. 
 

26. The drawbacks of doing this are: 
 

a) It may disadvantage some applicants in the short term as changes that 
may increase Council Tax Reduction for a person would not be taken 
into account until the new assessment period. 

 
27. Fifty-eight per cent of (total of 7) respondents agreed with the proposal, 42 per 

cent (5) responded that they either did not or did not know whether they agreed 
or not. 
 

28. A full equalities impact assessment was carried out on the current 2016/17 
scheme. This has been reviewed and is attached to this report at Appendix D. 

 
 

86



Conclusions 
 
29. The LCTS scheme operated by the Council has performed well in its first five 

years of operation. Claimants have been very well supported by the dedicated 
officers appointed utilising the resources provided through the funding 
agreement with the key precepting bodies. 
 

30. Following consultation on the 2019/20 scheme it is again proposed to retain the 
scheme largely unchanged and it is recommended that fixed benefit periods are 
not introduced for the reasons set out in the report. 

 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (Includes Sustainability) 
No implications specifically arise from the Council Tax Benefit reforms. Welfare 
Reform more widely will have a range of different impacts on delivery of service 
objectives. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing on behalf of Graeme 
Bloomer, Head of Place 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
Financial impacts of the LCTS scheme are being considered as part of the wider 
budget process and development of the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance 
 
Housing 
None specific 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
As contained within the report at this stage. The implications of the final scheme will 
be assessed for impact on vulnerable groups, as outlined in the report. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (Includes HR) 
The Council must have the LCTSS in place by 11 March 2019 and having carried out 
a consultation exercise it will minimise the risk of challenges to the Council. 
Author: Colleen O’Boyle, Interim Head of Governance 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Proposed Essex Schemes 2019/20 
Appendix B – Council Tax Support and Universal Credit Interaction – Case Studies 
Appendix C – LCTS Consultation Results 
Appendix D – Equality Impact Assessment 
 
 
 

87



Background Papers 
 
LCTSS 2017/18 - http://www.harlow.gov.uk/council-tax-support-scheme-2017-18pdf 
Annual Fraud Indicator 2013 - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/annual-
fraud-indicator--2 
  
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
CTB – Council Tax Benefit 
LCTS – Local Council Tax Support 
LCTSS – Local Council Tax Support Scheme 
PAYE – Pay As You Earn 
UC – Universal Credit 

 

88

http://www.harlow.gov.uk/council-tax-support-scheme-2017-18pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/annual-fraud-indicator--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/annual-fraud-indicator--2


APPENDIX A 
Proposed Essex Schemes 2019/20 
 

 

 
Basild
on  

 
Braintr
ee  

 
Brentwo
od  

 Castle 
Point  

 
Chelmsf
ord  

 
Colches
ter  

 
Eppin
g 
Fores
t   Harlow  

 
Maldon  

 
Rochfo
rd  

 
Southe
nd-on-
Sea  

 
Tendri
ng  

 
Thurro
ck  

 
Uttlesf
ord  

Minimum 
council tax 
payment? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 

% Minimum 
council tax 
payment 

level 
2019/20 25 24 0 - 20 

32 /34 
/35 23 20 25 24 20 28 25 20 25 12.5 

Savings 
limit 16000 16000 16000 6000 6000 6000 6000 6000 6000 6000 6000 16000 6000 16000 

Other 
benefits 

counted as 
income? No Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes No Yes No No 

Second 
adult 

rebate 
reduced or 
abolished? No Yes No Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Changes 
made to 

non-
dependent 
deductions Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No No Yes Yes Yes Yes No No 

89



Support 
restricted 

to a 
particular 
council tax 

band? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 
Consulti

ng Yes No Yes Yes Yes No No No 

Council Tax 
band 

support is 
restricted 

to D D D D D - D H D D D - - _ 

Introduce 
minimum 
council tax 

support 
payment? Yes No No 

Consulti
ng No 

Consulti
ng Yes No No No No No No Yes 

Minimum 
weekly 

council tax 
support 
payment £2.50 - - 50p -£2 - 

- 
£2 £0.50 - - - - - - £2.00 

Taper rate 20% 24% 15 -20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 

Changes 
made to 

conditions 
around 
starting 
work? No 

£40 
per 

week 
disrega
rd for 

all 
claima

nts Yes Yes Yes No No Yes No No No No Yes Yes 

Hardship 
fund Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No No Yes 

90



Mirror all 
changes in 

Housing 
Benefit 

Yes  N/K No Yes No no Yes 
consulti

ng 
yes yes Yes No yes yes 

Remove 
Family 

Premium 
No yes  No Yes   No yes Yes 

consulti
ng  

yes yes Yes   Yes yes 

Changes to 
Minimum 

Income 
Floor 

 Yes yes Yes   No  Yes 
Consulti

ng 
yes yes yes yes Yes yes Yes yes 

Dependent
s reduced 

to two 
 No    No  Yes  No no Yes No yes Yes yes   Yes No 

Changes 
made to 

backdating 
rules to one 

month 

Yes yes Yes Yes Yes yes 
No, 3 
mont

hs 
Yes Yes Yes yes No Yes yes 

Change 
Temporary 

Absence 
rules 

No  No Yes No 
Consulti

ng 
Yes Yes yes yes yes  yes yes 

Disregard 
the new 

Bereaveme
nt Support 
payments 

for working 
age 

applicants 
 

 n/a n/a n/a 
Consulti

ng 
consulti

ng 
Yes Yes 

consulti
ng 

    N/A 

91



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Introduce 
discretion 
in regards 

to DWP 
notification

s for 
working 
age CTS 
claims. 

 

      Yes Yes 
consulti

ng 
    No 

Accept 
documenta
tion from 

the DWP as 
an 

intention to 
claim 

Council Tax 
Support 

 

    Yes  Yes Yes 
Consulti

ng 
 Yes   Yes 

92



Appendix B 

Council Tax Support and Universal Credit Interaction – Case Studies.        

The case studies below demonstrate the interaction between Universal Credit (UC), Local Council Tax Support (LCTS) and Council tax monthly 

instalment scheme.  

 

Case 1 

Payments of council tax being made by Direct Debit. 

 No history of arrears. 

 10 changes in LCTS in the 2018 financial year (not including original award) 

 8 changes in instalments due, ranging from £112 per month - £164 per month. 

 Despite the above, the customer has managed to meet every instalment due and there has been no contact from the customer.  

 

 

Case 2 

Payments of council tax being made by Direct Debit. 

 No history of arrears. 

 There have been eight changes in LCTS in the 2018 financial year (not including the original award). 

 There have been three changes in council tax instalments due in the 2018 financial year, ranging from £64 per month – £132 per 

month. 

 The impact of UC changes on the statutory council tax instalment scheme has caused the instalments due in August 2018 and October 

2018 to be missed. 

 Despite the above, the customer has managed to meet every instalment due. 

 The customer called the Revenues & Benefits service in August 2018 to change the date their bank account would be debited going 

forward, and have also called in October 2018 to ask why a payment was not taken from their bank account in October. Payment was 

not taken in October 2018 due to the interaction of UC changes with LCTS and the council tax statutory instalment scheme.  

93



Case 3 

 Customer is a cash payer (this does not necessarily mean they pay by cash, it is just that they do not pay by Direct Debit).   

 There have been seven changes in LCTS in the current financial year (not including the original award) and 10 bills have been issued in 

the current financial year. 

 Revised instalments have ranged from £35 per month to £160 per month. 

 No payments have been made since the end of August 2018. 

 The customer had not yet had a reminder, due to the interaction with UC. 

 The customer still owes the majority of this year’s annual council tax charge. The customer has called the Revenues & Benefits service 

recently to arrange to pay weekly instalments, but due to the large amount outstanding, these are currently £43 per week. 

 

 

Case 4 

Payments of council tax being made by Direct Debit. 

 There have been six changes to LCTS and six council tax bills have been issued in the current financial year. 

 Changes to the instalments due have ranged from £25 per month - £87 per month, and due to the interaction with UC, the instalments 

due in April and September have been missed. 

 There has been no contact from the customer. 

 

Case 5 

Customer is a cash payer (this does not necessarily mean they pay by cash, it is just that they do not pay by Direct Debit).   

 There have been six changes to LCTS and six council tax bills have been issued in the current financial year. 

 The customer has been making regular weekly payments, which although not in line with the bill(s), these have enabled the customer to 

keep up to date with payments due. 

 

 

94



Case 6 

 There have been seven changes in LCTS, and 10 bills issued in the current financial year. 

 The customer has not made any payments of council tax since July 2017, but due to the timing of the change sin LCTS, council tax 

reminders have not been issued, and the next instalment is due on 1st December 2018. 

 Debtor has £400 of council tax arrears in addition to the current year’s debt. 

 

 

Case 7 

Customer is a cash payer (this does not necessarily mean they pay by cash, it is just that they do not pay by Direct Debit).   

 There have been eight changes in LCTS, and 6 bills issued in the current year. 

 Instalments due have ranged from £19 per month to £104 per month. 

 Customer has made two payments of council tax monthly instalments to date, and currently owes over 75% of current year charge  

 The customer has contacted the Revenues & Benefits service recently, as confused at receiving multiple bills. A payment arrangement 

has been agreed, but the customer is already in default. 

 

Case 8 

The customer was a Direct Debit payer, but this has been cancelled.  

 There have been seven changes in LCTS in the current financial year, and 10 bills have been issued. 

 The council tax account is currently still at bill stage, as not recovery action has taken place due to the multiple changes. Customer 

owes 80% if this year’s charge and also has arrears for the 2017 financial year. 

 There has been no contact from the customer. 

 

Case 9  

The customer was originally making payments by Direct debit, but the instruction has been cancelled as the last three months payments have 

been returned as unpaid.   

95



 There have been eight changes in LCTS in the current financial year, and eight bills have been issued. 

 The council tax account is currently still at bill stage, and customer owes 50% of this year’s charge plus arrears for the 2017 and 2016 

financial years. 

 The next instalment is due in December. 

  

  

96



  

97



APPENDIX C 
 

LCTS Consultation Results      Consultation Closed 31 October 2018 

 

 1.  I have read the background information about the Council Tax Support Scheme: 

 

  
Response 

Total 

Response 

Percent 

Yes 
 

18 90% 

No 
 

2 10% 

Total Respondents  20 
   

(skipped this question)  455 
  

 

 2.  Should the Council keep the current Council Tax scheme? (Should it continue to administer the scheme and have the same level 

of support as it does at the moment?) 

 

  
Response 

Total 

Response 

Percent 

Yes 
 

8 53% 

98



No 
 

3 20% 

Don't know 
 

4 27% 

Total Respondents  15 100% 
  

(skipped this question)  460 
  

 

 3.  Please use the space below to make any comments you have on protecting the Council Tax Support Scheme from these 

changes: 

 

Total Respondents  2 
 

(skipped this question)  473 
 

Responses 

1. This is my council tax claim 

2. I would like to see Council Tax Benefit reintroduced, however this is not going to happen, at 

least keep the current scheme as it is. 

  

 

 4.  Option 1 – Fixed Period Assessments 

This option will apply only to people receiving Universal Credit where their Universal Credit entitlement is amended due to 
changes in their Universal Credit income. As Universal Credit is calculated using real time information, a person’s entitlement to 
Universal Credit often changes each month. This in turn changes a person’s entitlement to Local Council Tax Support each month 
which then changes the amount that they have to pay for council tax each month. This option will enable the authority to calculate 

99



or recalculate a person’s entitlement to Local Council Tax Support every 6 months.  
  
By fixing the assessment period, this will avoid multiple changes, be less confusing, avoid the constant recalculations of Council 
Tax instalments, allow a person to budget over a six month period and will aid administration. 
 
The benefit of this is: 

 It is a clear and simple change to the current scheme; 
 It is administratively simple and will potentially make administrative savings;  
 It will help people to budget over longer periods; and 
 It may benefit some applicants in the short term as changes that may decrease Council Tax Support for a 

person would not be taken into account until the new assessment period. 
The drawbacks of doing this are: 
 

 It may disadvantage some applicants in the short term as changes that may increase Council Tax Reduction for a person 
would not be taken into account until the new assessment period. 

 

Do you agree with Option 1? 

 

  
Response 

Total 

Response 

Percent 

Yes 
 

7 58% 

No 
 

2 17% 

Don't know 
 

3 25% 

Total Respondents  12 100% 
  

100



(skipped this question)  463 
  

 

 5.  If you disagree what alternative would you propose? 

 

Total Respondents  1 
 

(skipped this question)  474 
 

Response 

1. Restore 100% Council Tax Relief for the jobless, including restoring the savings limit of £16,000 

 

  

 

6. Do you think the Council should choose either of the following options rather than the proposed changes to the Council 
Tax Support Scheme? Please select one answer for each source of funding. 

 
6.1  Increase the level of Council Tax 

 

  
Response 

Total 

Response 

Percent 

Yes 
 

2 18% 

No 
 

6 55% 

101



Don't know 
 

3 27% 

Total Respondents  11 100% 
  

(skipped this question)  464 
  

 

 6.2.  Find savings from cutting other Council Services 

 

  
Response 

Total 

Response 

Percent 

Yes 
 

2 18% 

No 
 

7 64% 

Don't know 
 

2 18% 

Total Respondents  11 100% 
  

(skipped this question)  464 
  

 

 7.  If the Council were to choose these other options to make savings, what would be your order of preference? Please tick your 

preferred option (one only). 

 

  Please select Response 

102



Total 

Increase the level of Council Tax 100% (7) 7 

Reduce funding available for other Council Services 100% (5) 5 

Total Respondents  12 
 

(skipped this question)  463 
  

 

 8.  Please use this space to make any other comments on the scheme. 

 

 Total Respondents  1 
 

(skipped this question)  474 
 

Response 

1. Council Tax is already too high, and a burden on those who have a low income. Council Tax 

should NOT be increased to fund changes in administration. 

  

 

 9.  Please use the space below if you would like the Council to consider any other options (please state). 

 

No responses were entered for this question.   

103



Total Respondents  0 
 

(skipped this question)  475 
 

 

 10.  Please use the space below if you would like the Council to consider any other options (please state). 

 

No responses were entered for this question.   

Total Respondents  0 
 

(skipped this question)  475 
 

 

 11.  If you have any further comments or questions to make regarding the Council Tax Support scheme that you haven't had 

opportunity to raise elsewhere, please use the space below. 

 

No responses were entered for this question.   

Total Respondents  0 
 

(skipped this question)  475 
 

 

 12.  Are you, or someone in your household, getting a Council Tax Reduction at this time? 

 

104



  
Response 

Total 

Response 

Percent 

Yes 
 

4 50% 

No 
 

4 50% 

Don't know 
 

0 0% 

Total Respondents  8 100% 
  

(skipped this question)  467 
  

 

 13.  Are you? 

 

  
Response 

Total 

Response 

Percent 

Male 
 

2 29% 

Female 
 

3 43% 

Prefer not to say 
 

2 29% 

Total Respondents  7 100% 
  

(skipped this question)  468 
  

 

105



 14.  Please indicate your age 

 

  
Response 

Total 

Response 

Percent 

18 - 24  
 

0 0% 

25 - 34 
 

3 38% 

35 - 44 
 

1 12% 

45 - 54 
 

1 12% 

55 - 64 
 

1 12% 

65 - 74 
 

0 0% 

75 - 84 
 

0 0% 

85+ 
 

0 0% 

Prefer not to say 
 

2 25% 

Total Respondents  8 100% 
  

(skipped this question)  467 
  

 

 15.  Do you consider yourself to have a physical impairment? 

 

106



  
Response 

Total 

Response 

Percent 

Yes 
 

0 0% 

No 
 

7 88% 

Not Sure 
 

0 0% 

Prefer no to say 
 

1 12% 

Total Respondents  8 100% 
  

(skipped this question)  467 
  

 

 16.  Do you consider yourself to have a sensory impairment? 

 

  
Response 

Total 

Response 

Percent 

Yes 
 

0 0% 

No 
 

7 88% 

Not sure 
 

0 0% 

Prefer not to say 
 

1 12% 

Total Respondents  8 100% 
  

107



(skipped this question)  467 
  

 

 17.  Do you consider yourself to have a learning difficulty or disability? 

 

  
Response 

Total 

Response 

Percent 

Yes 
 

0 0% 

No 
 

7 88% 

Not sure 
 

0 0% 

Prefer not to say 
 

1 12% 

Total Respondents  8 100% 
  

(skipped this question)  467 
  

 

 18.  Do you consider yourself to have any mental health needs? 

 

  
Response 

Total 

Response 

Percent 

Yes 
 

1 12% 

108



No 
 

6 75% 

Not sure 
 

0 0% 

Prefer not to say 
 

1 12% 

Total Respondents  8 100% 
  

(skipped this question)  467 
  

 

 19.  Ethnic Origin: What is your ethnic group? 

 

  
Response 

Total 

Response 

Percent 

White British 
 

3 38% 

White Irish 
 

0 0% 

White Other 
 

1 12% 

Gypsy / Roma 
 

0 0% 

Traveller of Irish Heritage 
 

0 0% 

Black or Black British 

African 
 

0 0% 

Black or Black British  

0 0% 

109



 

Caribbean 

Mixed White / Black African 
 

1 12% 

Mixed White / Black 

Caribbean 
 

0 0% 

Black Other 
 

0 0% 

Asian or Asian British 

Pakistani 
 

0 0% 

Asian or Asian British Indian 
 

0 0% 

Asian or Asian British Other 
 

0 0% 

Mixed White / Asian 
 

0 0% 

Asian Other 
 

0 0% 

Chinese 
 

0 0% 

Mixed Other 
 

0 0% 

Not Known 
 

0 0% 

Prefer not to say 
 

3 38% 

Other, please specify 
 

0 0% 

Total Respondents  8 100% 
  

(skipped this question)  467 
  

 

110



                 APPENDIX D 
Harlow District Council 
 
Equality Impact Assessment – Local council tax support scheme 
 
 

Name of service, function or 
policy being assessed 

Localised Council Tax Support Policy 2019-20 
 
This Equality Impact Assessment has been developed considering the following national 
Equality 
Impact Assessments: 
• Local Government Finance Bill: Localising support for council tax 
• Local Government Finance Bill: Technical reforms to council tax 
• Local Government Finance Bill: Summary impact assessment 

Service/Department Finance / Revenues and Benefits 

Names and roles of officers 
completing the assessment 
(indicate Lead officer) 

Donna Beechener, Revenues and Benefits Manager (Lead Officer) 
 

Contact telephone number of 
Lead officer 

01279 446245 

Date assessment completed 5 November 2018 

 

111



1. Aims of the policy/service/function and how implemented 
 

 Key Questions Notes 

1.1 
Is this a new policy/service/function or 
a review of an existing one? 

This is a review of an existing policy and function 

1.2 
Briefly state the main purpose of the 
policy/service/function? 

To help people with low incomes to afford their Council Tax liability, in line with the 
Local Government Finance Act 2012.  
 

1.3 
Briefly state the main activities of the 
policy/service/function? 

Payment of Council Tax  
Discounting of Council Tax  
 

1.4 
Who are the main beneficiaries? 
Whose need’s is it designed to meet? 

Those liable for Council Tax within Harlow.   
Adults on a low income with low savings  
Any authority that can levy a Council Tax  
 

1.5 
Which staff carry out the 
policy/service/function? 

Revenues And Benefits staff 

 

112



2. Information Gathering and Data Collection 
 

 Key Questions Notes 
If further data collection is needed – 
state by whom, when and how is it 
going to be done? 

2.1 

What quantitative (numerical) data 
do you already have (e.g. national and 
local demographic data, equality 
monitoring data, employee data, 
customer profile data etc) about those 
who use or will use the policy or 
service? 
What gaps are there in the data? 
What else do you need? 
 
NB. Attach copies of the relevant 
data that you are using for this 
assessment 

The scheme was originally modelled 
based on existing costs, taking account 
of a potential council tax increase, 
demand for the scheme and the 
reduction in Revenue Support Grant.  
The scheme was originally modelled to 
be cost neutral, but current estimates are 
that the scheme costs more that the 
current level of grant received. .   

It is not possible to identify the actual 
grant received to support the scheme as 
this has been subsumed into overall 
formula funding. 

2.2 

What qualitative data do you already 
have (e.g. results of customer 
satisfaction surveys, results of 
previous consultations, staff surveys, 
analysis of customer 
complaints/comments, feedback from 
community groups or individuals etc) 
about those who use or will use the 
policy or service? 
What gaps are there in the data? 
What else do you need? 

The proposed scheme for 2019/20 for  
working age claimants does not vary  
from the current scheme. 

 

 

 

113



3. Consultation 
 

Please state below what formal or informal consultation has taken place or that you are planning to hold with appropriate 
stakeholders in relation to this policy/function 

 Key Questions Notes 

If further consultations are needed/ 
planned – state with whom, by whom, 
when and how is this going to be 
done? 

3.1 
What consultations have been held 
and with whom did you consult? 
What were the main issues raised? 

A public consultation was conducted for 
a period of one month, commencing on 1 
October 2018 and closing on 31 October 
2018. The consultation was conducted 
by way of an online questionnaire.  
 
The consultation was publicly 
announced. 

The scheme will be reviewed annually, 
and if changes are proposed, then 
further public consultation will be 
conducted. 

3.2 

What consultations were held 
specifically with the equality target 
groups? 
What were the main issues raised? 

In introducing a local council tax support 
scheme in 2013, representatives of 
equality target groups were identified 
and contacted electronically alerting 
them to the consultation and asking them 
to participate.  Locally and nationally 
concerns were raised about the new 
liabilities created for those unable to 
work due to disability.  We have 
addressed these by confirming that the 
current system of applicable amounts 
which protect these groups will remain in 
place.   

 
 
 
 
 
As 3.1 

114



 Key Questions Notes 

If further consultations are needed/ 
planned – state with whom, by whom, 
when and how is this going to be 
done? 

3.3 

Is the Council working in Partnership 
with other organisations to implement 
this policy/function? 
Should this be taken into 
consideration? (E.g. Agreeing the 
equalities monitoring categories) 
Should the partnership arrangements 
have an EIA?   

All major precepting authorities in Essex, 
which work together to devise the 
support scheme.   
HDC – Corporate Housing; Resource 
Management 
Department for Work and Pensions  
Department for Communities and Local 
Government   . 
 
Each LA participating in the Essex 
project will conduct their own EQIA.  
DWP & DCLG have undertaken EQIA’s 
which are publicly available. 
 

As 3.1 

 
Note 
 

 It is a legal requirement that consultation takes place with appropriate stakeholders as part of the EIA process. 

 You must ensure that you record all the main areas of concern raised by equality and customer groups during 
consultations and how you aim to address these concerns.  

115



4. Assessment of Impact 
 

Based on the data you have analysed and provided, and the results of the consultation or research you have undertaken, list below 
how the policy or function will or does work for each of the following equalities groups. 
 
Identify any differential impact and consider whether the policy/function meets any particular needs identified for each of the six 
equalities groups. 
 
NB:If you do identify any adverse impact you must: 

a) Seek appropriate advice as to whether it is highlighting unlawful discrimination or is potentially discriminatory, and  
b) Identify steps to mitigate any adverse impact 

 
Include any examples of how the policy or function helps to promote race, disability, age and/or gender equality. 

  State evidence of impact or potential impact/How helps to promote 
equality 

4.1 Gender – identify the impact/potential impact of 
the policy/function on women, men and 
transgender people 
And/or 
 
Proposed measures to mitigate any adverse 
impacts 
 

None identified 

  State evidence of impact or potential impact/How helps to promote 
equality 

116



4.2 Disability – identify the impact/potential impact of 
the policy on disabled people (ensure 
consideration of a range of impairments including 
visual and hearing impairments, mobility 
impairments, learning disability etc) 
And/or 
 
Proposed measures to mitigate any adverse 
impacts 

All Disability Living Allowance Benefits will continue to be disregarded 
thereby protecting those with specific long term conditions who fall within 
this group. People with disabilities will continue to receive additional 
premiums as part of the calculation.  
 
The above helps to “advance equality of opportunity between people 
who share a protected characteristic and those who do not.” 

4.3 Age – identify the impact/potential impact of the 
policy/function on different age groups  
 
And/or 
 
Proposed measures to mitigate any adverse 
impacts 

Older people (Pensionable Age); This group is specifically protected 
under Government Regulations. 
 
Younger people (17-25); 17 year olds may be disadvantaged indirectly if 
their parents have to pay more as a result of this policy. People over 18 
of working age will be required to pay more.    
 
The Council has agreed an exceptional hardship fund to assist those in 
extreme hardship. 
 
Children (0-16); Removing the Family Premium for new claims, may 
affect those under 16.  

4.4 Race – identify the impact/potential impact of the 
policy/function on different black and minority 
ethnic groups, including Gypsy and Traveller 
communities 
 
And/or 
 
Proposed measures to mitigate any adverse 
impacts 

None identified 

  State evidence of impact or potential impact/How helps to promote 
equality 

117



4.5 Sexual orientation – identify the impact/potential 
impact of the policy on lesbians, gay men, 
bisexual and heterosexual people 
 
And/or 
 
Proposed measures to mitigate any adverse 
impacts 

None identified 

4.6 Religion/belief – identify the impact/potential 
impact of the policy on people of different 
religious/faith groups and also upon those with no 
faith 
 
And/or 
 
Proposed measures to mitigate any adverse 
impacts 

None identified 

4.7 Socio-economic disadvantage – identify any 
impact on those who have a low income, or whose 
family circumstances/history may affect their 
ability to access services eg. carers and the cared 
for; pensioners; single-parents; long-term 
unemployed; history of abuse/domestic violence; 
benefits claimants; housebound; chronically ill; 

The impact of the proposed scheme will be felt most by those of working 
age who are not disabled, some of the affects will be mitigated by more 
generous incentives to work. 
 
The Council has agreed an exceptional hardship fund to assist those in 
extreme need. 
 

118



4.8 Any other groups, if appropriate 
e.g. children leaving care; pregnant or breast-
feeding mothers; carers etc 

Parents will continue to receive a child allowance.  
Working parents receive a higher disregard of their earnings reflecting 
their childcare costs.  
 
The Council has agreed an exceptional hardship fund to assist those in 
extreme hardship. 
 
The above helps to “advance equality of opportunity between people 
who share a protected characteristic and those who do not.”  
 

  Notes 

4.9 Are there any additional measures that could be 
adopted to further equality of opportunity in the 
context of this policy/service/function and to meet 
the particular needs of equalities groups that you 
have identified? 

None identified. 

 
 
NB 
 
Please provide a summary overview by completing the Section overleaf, ticking the relevant boxes to confirm the outcome and 
findings of this assessment process 
 
It is also essential that you complete an action plan based on your assessment (see form EIA.2) and attach this to your Equality 
Impact Assessment form (EIA.1) form.  This is a vital component of the equalities impact assessment process. 
 

119



Include all of the measures that you will take to improve the policy/function for the different equalities characteristics, e.g. staff 
training, positive action, revisions to policy, monitoring of your action plan, etc. 
 
Once you have completed the forms EIA.1 and EIA.2 please sign and date and:  
a) Send a copy to your Head of Service for endorsement  
b) Keep a copy as a record of the processes you have been through in carrying out the EIA   
c) Send a PDF copy of the signed and endorsed EIA form plus enclosed action plans to the Corporate Equalities Group via the 
HDC Community Liaison Officer equalities@harlow.gov.uk 
. 

120

mailto:equalities@harlow.gov.uk


5. Summary Overview of EIA 
As a summary overview of information and findings provided in the earlier sections of this Equality Impact Assessment, please tick 
the relevant boxes as appropriate to denote the OUTCOME of this process for each of the Equality Characteristics. 
 
 

Equalities category No adverse impact AND 
promotes equality and 
diversity 
Please tick  if appropriate 

No adverse impact BUT 
equality and diversity NOT 
promoted 
Please tick  if appropriate 

Evidence of adverse impact 
Please tick  if appropriate 

Gender and transgender x   

Race x   

Disability x   

Age   x 

Sexual orientation x   

Religion and belief x   

Socio-economic disadvantage   x 

 
 
NB: Tick relevant box as appropriate and based on information provided in section 
 
 

121



 
 
Note 
 

 If you are unsure of any aspect of this Equality Impact Assessment process you can seek guidance from your service 
representative on the Corporate Equalities Group or from the HDC Community Liaison Officer who can be contacted 
on equalities@harlow.gov.uk and extension 6388. 

 

 Once the EIA form has been completed please ensure all enclosures are attached then sign and date the form, 
ensure it is countersigned by your Head of Service, keep a copy for your records and send a PDF to 
equalities@harlow.gov.uk 

 
 
. 
 
 
 
Signed        Countersigned 
Project Manager ………………………………………….. Head of Service ………………………………………………… 
 
 
Print Name ………………………………………….. Print Name  ………………………………………………… 
 
 
Date  ………………………………………….. Date   ………………………………………………… 
 
Under the Freedom of Information Act, this completed EIA form will be placed on the Harloweb and be available on request to the 
general public. 
 

122

mailto:equalities@harlow.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@harlow.gov.uk


REPORT TO: 
 

FULL COUNCIL 

DATE: 
 

18 DECEMBER 2018  

TITLE: 
 

APPOINTMENT OF MONITORING OFFICER 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

BRIAN KEANE, MANAGING DIRECTOR  
(01279) 446004 
 

 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A Simon Hill is appointed on a permanent basis as the Council’s Monitoring Officer 

under Section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (as amended) 
with effect from 2 January 2019. 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. Under Section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (as amended), 

the Council has a duty to appoint a Monitoring Officer. At Full Council on 2 
November 2017, Brian Keane, the then Head of Governance was appointed 
Acting Managing Director. Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing, was 
designated as the Council’s Monitoring Officer until a permanent Managing 
Director was appointed.  

 
2. On 1 February 2018, Brian Keane was appointed as the Council’s permanent 

Managing Director. This meant the position of Head of Governance remained 
vacant. Therefore, Full Council also agreed that Jane Greer would remain as 
Monitoring Officer until a permanent Head of Governance was appointed. 

 
3. Following a recruitment process, the Council has appointed Simon Hill as its 

permanent Head of Governance. He is due to start this role on 2 January 2019. 
 
 

ISSUES/PROPOSALS 
 
4. The Monitoring Officer has a number of statutory duties and responsibilities 

relating to the Council’s Constitution and arrangements for effective governance.  
These duties include maintaining the Constitution, ensuring that no decision or 
omission of the Council is likely to give rise to illegality or maladministration and 
promoting high standards of conduct.  A full list of the Monitoring Officer’s 
responsibilities and delegated powers is included in the Council’s Constitution at 
(Part 2 (Article 11.6)). 
 

5. Neither the Head of Paid Service nor the Section 151 Officer can hold the 
position of Monitoring Officer. Whoever is appointed must ensure that the 
Council receives the correct and appropriate advice on the lawfulness of its 
decision making. 

 

123

Agenda Item 10a



6. Simon Hill has held various senior posts at Epping Forest District Council 
between including:  

 
a) Senior Democratic Services Officer, 1997-2014;  

 
b) Assistant Director Governance and Performance Management, 2014 – 

September 2018; and  
 

c) Service Director Governance and Member Services, September 2018 
to present day.  

 
7. He has been the Monitoring Officer at Epping Forest District Council since 

February 2018. Prior to that he was Deputy Monitoring Officer for four years 
dealing with:  
 

a) Initial assessments;  
 

b) Liaison with complainants and councillors subject to complaints; 
preparing reports advising on appropriate remedies;  
 

c) Conducting or commissioning investigations; and  
 

d) Supporting the Standards Committee, including being the Lead Officer.  
 
8. He has provided Officer and Member training on the Code of Conduct, including 

introducing and updating a planning protocol to assist Councillors in their 
decision making. 

 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (Includes Sustainability) 
None specific. 
Author: Andrew Bramidge, Project Director – Enterprise Zone and Interim 
Head of Planning on behalf of Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
None specific. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance 
 
Housing 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
None specific. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
 
 

124



Governance (Includes HR) 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Brian Keane, Managing Director 
 
Appendices 
 
None. 
 
Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
None. 

125



                                                                                           
  

COUNCIL REPRESENTATIVES ON OUTSIDE BODIES 2018/19  
  
 

OUTSIDE BODY APPOINTMENTS  

Active Harlow Partnership 
 

Eugenie Harvey 

Age Concern 
 

Bob Davis 

Citizens Advice Bureau 
 

Edna Stevens 

District Councils’ Network 
 

Mark Ingall 

East of England Local Government Association 
 

Mark Ingall 
Mark Wilkinson (substitute) 

 

Essex County Council’s Essex Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 
 

Tony Edwards 

Essex Police and Crime Panel 
 

Chris Vince 
Mike Danvers (substitute) 

 

Fawbert & Barnard Educational Foundation 
 

Sue Livings (12/11/20) 
Eugenie Harvey (25/5/20)  

Joel Charles (25/5/20)  
Tom Newens (29/5/21) 

 
(3 year terms of office) 

Great Parndon Community Association Board Tony Edwards 
 

Harlow Art Trust 
 

Tony Edwards 

Harlow Arts Council 
 

Jean Clark 
John Strachan 

 

Harlow Homelessness Prevention Partnership 
 

Edna Stevens 

Harlow Occupational Health Service 
 

Edna Stevens 

Harlow Recreation Trust Fund – Advisory Panel 
 

(No current vacancies) 

Harlow-Stansted Gateway Transportation Board 
 

Danny Purton 
 

Local Government Association General 
Assembly 
 

Mark Ingall 
Mike Danvers (substitute) 

Local Government Association District Council’s 
Network Assembly 
 

Mark Ingall 
 

PATROL Adjudication Joint Committee 
 

Danny Purton 
 

126

Agenda Item 10c



                                                                                           
  

Playhouse Trust Stefan Mullard 
 

Safer Harlow Partnership 
 

Lanie Shears 
Eugenie Harvey 

 

Science Alive Trust John Strachan 
 

Shopmobility Management Committee 
 

Edna Stevens 

St Johns Arts & Recreation Association 
 

Sue Livings 

Stansted Airport Community Trust Fund 
 

Eugenie Harvey 

Stansted Airport Consultative Committee 
 

Danny Purton 
Tony Durcan (substitute) 

 

Town Centre Partnership Tony Durcan 
Maggie Hulcoop (substitute) 

 

Veolia Partnership Board 
 

Danny Purton 
Mike Danvers (substitute) 
Tony Edwards (substitute) 

 

Waste Member Partnership Board and 
IAA Member Working Group 
 

Danny Purton 
Tony Edwards 

Young Concern Trust Mark Ingall 
 

 

127



 

MINUTES OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE 
HELD ON 

 
20 November 2018 7.30  - 8.00 pm 
 
 
PRESENT 
 
Committee Members 
Councillor John Strachan (Vice-Chair, in the Chair) 
Councillor Nick Churchill 
Councillor Edna Stevens 
 
Officers 
Michael Pitt, Environment and Licensing Manager 
Adam Rees, Governance Support Officer 
Dimple Roopchand, Assistant Solicitor 
David Taylor, Principal Environmental Health Officer 

 
 
18. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Mike Garnett, Tony 
Hall, Maggie Hulcoop, Andrew Johnson and Lanie Shears. 
 

19. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
None. 
 

20. MINUTES  
 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 11 September 
2018 are agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 

 
21. MATTERS ARISING 

 
a) Minute 16 - Use of Roof Signs on Private Hire Vehicles 

 
Councillor Churchill sought an update on whether the specification 
(delegated to the Chair and Vice Chair of Licensing) for the roof signs had 
been agreed and queried if drivers would be able have a different coloured 
roof sign depending on which operator/company they worked for. He was 
informed that the specification had been agreed and white roof signs with 
black writing will be only be permitted on Private Hire Vehicles as 
operators had other means of distinguishing their companies from others.    
 

22. WRITTEN QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS  
 
None. 
 

128

Agenda Item 11a



23. COMMITTEE WORK PLAN  
 
It was agreed that the consultation for the proposed changes to Private 
Hire Operator Conditions and the Provision of Adapted Vehicles was 
extended and that the outcome of the consultation was considered by the 
Committee on 12 March 2019. 
 

RESOLVED that: 
 
A Private Hire Operator Conditions and the Provision of Adapted 

Vehicles [Recommendation] be considered by the Committee on 
12 March 2019. 
 

B The Work Plan was noted. 
 

24. HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING FEES  
 
The Committee received a report which set out proposed changes to 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Fees. 
 

RESOLVED that the Licensing Committee: 
 
A Approved for publication the proposed revised Hackney 

Carriage and Private Hire licensing fee structure (attached as 
Appendix A to the report). 
 

B Subject to no representations being received, recommended to 
Full Council that the proposed Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire licensing fee structure be adopted with effect from 1 April 
2019. 

 
25. ANIMAL WELFARE LICENSING  

 
The Committee received a report which set a new scheme of fees and 
changes, formal arrangements for determining licences under The Animal 
Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 
2018, as well as the appeals procedure against the risk rating score of an 
operator. 
 

RESOLVED that the Licensing Committee recommended to Full 
Council that: 
 
A The scheme of fees and charges with respect to The Animal 

Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) 
Regulations 2018 (attached as Appendix A to the report) be 
adopted, with the fees and charges to be reviewed annually 
thereafter as part of the Council’s annual fees and charges 
setting round. 
 

129



B The arrangements for formal decision making (attached as 
Appendix B to the report) be approved. 
 

C The procedure for appeal against a risk rating score of an 
operator (attached as Appendix C to the report) be approved. 

 
26. PRIVATE HIRE OPERATOR CONDITIONS AND THE PROVISION OF 

ADAPTED VEHICLES  
 
The Committee received a report which sought approval for a consultation 
on changes to Private Hire Operator conditions including the provision of 
wheelchair accessible vehicles, CCTV, and facilities for electronic 
payment. 
 

RESOLVED that: 
 
A The Committee approved a consultation on draft revised 

Operator conditions (as set out at Appendix B of the report) and 
that a future meeting of the Committee receive a report advising 
of the outcome of consultation. 

 
27. REVIEW OF GAMBLING ACT LICENSING POLICY  

 
The Committee received a report which recommended approval for a 
replacement Gambling Act Licensing Policy. 
 

RESOLVED that: 
 
A The Licensing Committee recommended to Full Council that the 

proposed replacement Gambling Act Licensing Policy (attached 
as Appendix A to the report) be approved. 

 
28. FOOD SAFETY ACT 1990 SERVICE PLAN 2018/19  

 
The Committee received a report on a revised Food Safety Act Service 
Plan for 2018/19. 
 

RESOLVED that: 
 
A The Committee approved the Food Safety Act Service Plan 

attached as Appendix A to the report. 
 

29. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES  
 
None. 
 

30. MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS  
 
None. 

 CHAIR OF THE COMMITTEE 

130



 

MINUTES OF THE AUDIT & STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
HELD ON 

 
28 November 2018 7.30  - 9.05 pm 
 
 
PRESENT 
 
Committee Members 
Councillor Stefan Mullard (Vice-Chair, in the Chair) 
Councillor Simon Carter 
Councillor Jean Clark 
Councillor Tony Edwards 
Councillor Russell Perrin 
Councillor Chris Vince 

 
Officers 
Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to the Managing Director 
Sarah Marsh, Internal Audit Manager 
Adam Rees, Governance Support Officer 
 
Additional Attendees 
Lisa Clampin, BDO 
Francesca Palmer, BDO 

 
 
30. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Michael Hardware. 
 

31. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Councillors Simon Carter and Chris Vince both declared non-pecuniary 
interests in items 9 and 11 as Council appointed Directors of HTS 
(Property and Environment) Ltd. 
 

32. MINUTES  
 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meetings held on 31 July and 5 
September 2018 are agreed as a correct record and signed by the 
Chair.  

 
33. MATTERS ARISING  

 
None. 
 

34. WRITTEN QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS  
 
None. 
 

131

Agenda Item 11b



35. NON CONTENTIOUS BUSINESS  
 
None. 
 

36. COMMITTEE WORK PLAN  
 
The Committee received its current work plan. 
 
RESOLVED that the work plan is noted. 
 

37. ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER  
 
The Committee received the annual audit letter from the external auditors, 
Ernst & Young, which summarised their findings on the audit work they 
had undertaken at the Council during 2017/18. 
 

RESOLVED that: 
 

A The Committee acknowledged the Annual Audit Letter for 2017/18 
(attached as Appendix A to the report) and the key issues 
identified regarding the audit opinion, financial statements and key 
challenges. 

 
38. INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY REPORT  

 
The Committee received the Internal Audit Activity Report, which showed 
the progress made against the Audit Plan since the last meeting of the 
Committee. It is also set out the review of the Code of Corporate 
Governance, the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy and the Internal Audit 
Charter. 
 
Councillor Mullard declared a non-pecuniary interest as a member of the 
Harlow Playhouse Trust 
 

RESOLVED that the Committee: 
 
A Noted the outcomes of the work of the Internal Audit service for 

the period July to November 2018 and identifies any issues for 
further consideration. 
 

B Noted the unchanged Code of Corporate Governance. 
 

C Approved the revised Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy 
(attached as Appendix C to the report). 
 

D Approved the Internal Audit Charter (attached as Appendix D to 
the report). 

 
 
 

132



39. REVIEW OF AUDIT & STANDARDS COMMITTEE EFFECTIVENESS 
AND TERMS OF REFERENCE  
 
The Committee received the report Review of the Effectiveness of the 
Audit and Standards Committee and its Terms of Reference, which set out 
an action plan for improvement of the functions of the Committee. 
 
The Committee agreed that a task and finish group would be established 
to look at the appointment of an independent person to the Committee. 
The terms of reference and membership of which are set out below. 
 

RESOLVED that the Committee: 
 
A Noted the results of the review of effectiveness of the Audit and 

Standards Committee and agrees the proposed action plan for 
improvements. 
 

B Established a task and finish group to look at whether the 
Committee should appoint an independent person with the 
terms of reference and membership as set out below. 

 
i) To establish the advantages and disadvantages of having 

an independent person on the Committee. 
 

ii) To determine whether the Committee should appoint an 
independent person. 
 

iii) To make a recommendation to the Committee consistent 
with points i) and ii) above. 
 

iv) The membership will be Councillors Simon Carter, Jean 
Clark and Stefan Mullard. 

 
40. RISK MANAGEMENT PROGRESS REPORT  

 
The Committee received a progress report on the Council’s risk 
management arrangements including the review of the Risk Management 
Strategy. 
 
Having previously identified various corporate risks from the Corporate 
Risk Register for scrutiny, the Committee considered the outstanding risks 
for review, namely CR06. 
 
The Committee agreed that a review of the Council’s risk appetite would 
be included the next Risk Management Progress Report which would be 
considered at the meeting on 13 March 2019. 
 

RESOLVED that the Committee: 
 

133



A Approved the Risk Management Strategy (attached as Appendix 
A to the report). 

B Reviewed the Corporate Risk Register as set out in the report. 
 

C Agreed that a review of the Council’s risk appetite would be 
included in the next report to the Committee on 13 March 2019. 

 
41. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES  

 
None. 
 

42. MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS  
 
None. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 CHAIR OF THE COMMITTEE 
 

134



 

MINUTES OF THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
HELD ON 

 
4 December 2018 7.30  - 9.10 pm 
 
 
PRESENT 
 
Committee Members 
Councillor Bob Davis (Chair) 
Councillor David Carter (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Simon Carter 
Councillor Tony Edwards 
Councillor Maggie Hulcoop 
Councillor Stefan Mullard 
Councillor Chris Vince 
 
Officers 
Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to the Managing Director 
Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
Adam Rees, Governance Support Officer 

 
Also Present 
Andrew Geldard, West Essex CCG 
Rob Gerlis, West Essex CCG 
Ian Tompkins, West Essex CCG 

 
 
38. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Joel Charles, 
Shona Johnson and Edna Stevens.  
 

39. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
None. 
 

40. MINUTES  
 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 16 October 
2018 are agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chair.  

 
41. MATTERS ARISING  

 
None. 
 

42. WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 
None. 
 

135

Agenda Item 11c



43. WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS  
 
None. 
 

44. RESPONSES OF THE CABINET TO REPORTS OF THE SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE  
 
None.  
 

45. REVIEW OF THE PROVISION OF HEALTH CARE SERVICES AND 
ADULT SOCIAL CARE IN THE TOWN - PRESENTATIONS FROM 
WEST ESSEX CCG AND ESSEX COUNTY COUNCIL  
 
The Chair welcomed Andrew Geldard, Dr Rob Gerlis and Ian Tompkins of 
the West Essex CCG to the meeting and invited them to give a 
presentation on health care service provision in the area. They explained 
that NHS England was responsible for the commissioning of care and that 
the CCG was responsible for procurement. The CCG worked closely with 
the County Council. There was a need to work closely with district 
councils. The Council and Councillors would be invited to attend future 
neighbourhood meetings. 
 
They then gave an overview of the CCG’s governance structure. One of 
the CCG’s main aims was to promote integration between its services and 
to encourage its neighbourhoods, of which there were three in Harlow, to 
work closely together. 
 
The CCG was currently consulting on the business case for Princess 
Alexandra Hospital (PAH). This business case would demonstrate how 
PAH would work with the health care provision in the surrounding area. 
The CCG then explained the Sustainability and Transformation 
Partnership (STP) which would look at the integration of West Essex 
services with other neighbouring CCG areas. 
 
The CCG then outlined their communications strategy. They wanted to 
work closely with councillors and councils. They explained the methods in 
which the CCG attempted to communicate with young people. 
 
In response to questions by Councillors, the CCG explained that part of its 
approach was to identify people before they became more seriously ill. It 
had the data necessary to identify geographical areas where there were 
specific issues. 
 
It was understood why there was some scepticism surrounding STPs, 
however the CCG were confident that funding would be made available to 
invest in PAH. Harlow was a growing area and would reach the critical 
mass necessary to ensure funding was not adversely affected. The CCG 
used the organisation Represent, as well as online facilities and peer 
support to deal mental health services for young people. There was no 
new surgery planned for the developments at Gilden Way and Newhall, 

136



but the existing nearby surgeries will expand to accommodate the increase 
in patients. 
 
The Chair thanked the CCG for their attendance and welcomed the future 
dialogue between the CCG and the Council 
 

46. REVIEW OF PADDLING POOLS - SCOPING REPORT  
 
The Committee considered a scoping report for the review of paddling 
pools in the town. 
 
Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing, outlined the work which had 
already taken place. This included a new health and safety assessment 
being commissioned. It was hoped that an interim report would be brought 
to the Committee’s next meeting. This would include an assessment of the 
options available and a model of potential works to the paddling pool in 
Staple Tye. 
 
The Committee discussed the report. They agreed that other methods of 
advertisement were added for the consultation, such as the Harlow Times. 
They also agreed that the school councils be consulted and that the 
organiser of the petition considered by Full Council be invited to present to 
the Committee, along with the Youth Council. 
 

RESOLVED that the scope of the review of Paddling Pools, as set 
out in the report, was agreed subject to the addition of the following: 
 
A The methods of advertising the consultation included the Harlow 

Times. 
 

B School councils be added to the list of those consulted. 
 

C The organiser of the petition to Full Council, and the Youth 
Council be invited to the next meeting of the Committee. 

 
47. WORK PLAN  

 
The Committee received a report summarising its work plan for 2018/19. 
Further to Minute 46 above, the Committee agreed that an interim report of 
the Review of Paddling Pools would be considered at the meeting on 13 
February 2019. The Committee also agreed that scoping reports for the 
Review of Educational Provision and the Review of Youth Club Provision 
at the meeting on 19 March 2019. 
 

RESOLVED that: 
 
A The work plan be noted. 

 
B An interim report of the Review of Paddling Pools be considered 

at the meeting on 13 February 2019. 

137



 
C Scoping reports on the Review of Educational Provision and 

Review of Youth Club Provision be considered at the meeting on 
19 March 2019. 

 
48. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES  

 
None. 
 

49. MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS  
 
None. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 CHAIR OF THE COMMITTEE 
 

138


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	47 Questions from the Public

	9a Referral from Licensing Committee - Animal Welfare Licensing
	Appendix A - Scheme of Fees and Charges
	Appendix B - Formal Decision Making Scheme for Animal Welfare Licensing
	Appendix C - Procedure for Appeal Against a Risk Rating Score

	9b Referral from Licensing Committee - Review of Gambling Act Licensing Policy
	Appendix A - Draft Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

	9c Referral from Cabinet - Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2018/19: Mid-Year Review
	Appendix A - Harlow Council Treasury Management Strategy Mid-Year Review 2018-19

	9d Referral from Cabinet - Local Council Tax Support Scheme Proposals 2019/20
	Appendix 1 - Local Council Tax Support Scheme - Report
	Appendices

	10a Appointment of Monitoring Officer
	10c Nomination for Appointment of Council Representatives on Outside Bodies
	11a Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 20 November 2018 of Licensing Committee
	11b Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 28 November 2018 of Audit and Standards Committee
	11c Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 4 December 2018 of Scrutiny Committee



